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Management Discussion and Analysis

PERFORMANCE
The Group reported a profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2014 of approximately 
HK$6.4 million (year ended 31 December 2013: HK$86.2 million). The Group’s turnover for the current financial year decreased by 
16.4% to approximately HK$1,079.9 million (year ended 31 December 2013: HK$1,291.0 million) due to decrease in sales of 
information products for non-media segment. Gross profit for the current year decreased slightly by 0.9% to HK$363.5 million 
compared with last financial year’s HK$366.6 million. Gross profit ratio increased from 28.4% for the last financial year to 33.7% 
for the current financial year as a result of increase in proportion of sales of technical services with higher gross profit margin.

The decline in the Group’s operating results for the year attributable to the equity holders of the parent was mainly the net results 
of:

a. decrease in the revenue by 16.4% to HK$1,079.9 million (year ended 31 December 2013: HK$1,291.0 million);

b. decrease in other income and gains (excluding gain on transfer of intellectual properties in (c)) by 28.2% to HK$71.2 million 
(year ended 31 December 2013: HK$99.1 million) as a result of decrease in fair value gains on investment properties in 
Hong Kong;

c. decrease in gain on transfer of intellectual properties relating to broadcasting business to HK$10.3 million (year ended 31 
December 2013: HK$58.9 million); and

d. increase in administrative expenses by 18.6% to HK$76.9 million (year ended 31 December 2013: HK$64.9 million) as a 
result of increase in staff cost for the development of new business and products.

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year was HK0.5 cents (year ended 31 
December 2013: HK7.6 cents) and HK0.5 cents (year ended 31 December 2013: HK7.5 cents) respectively.

OPERATING REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

(A) Software development, systems integration and information products distribution for media sector (“Media 
Business”)
The turnover of the Media Business for the current financial year increased slightly by 0.4% to approximately HK$915.2 
million (year ended 31 December 2013: HK$911.7 million). The segment results recorded a profit of approximately HK$10.5 
million (year ended 31 December 2013: HK$76.7 million). The gross profit ratio for the Media Business was maintain at 
around 39%.
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Font Library Business

As Beijing Founder Electronics Co., Ltd. (“Founder Electronics”, the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) won the 
lawsuits for an infringement against the use of Founder QianTi (方正倩體) font and Founder PingHe (方正平和) font at 
Nanjing Railway Transportation Court and the Third Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing, respectively, more enterprises 
purchased the authorization of Founder font library with improved font library copyright environment. Various new fonts, 
including but not limited to Founder YouHei (方正悠黑), Founder LanTingYuan (方正蘭亭圓) and Founder JunHei (方正俊黑), 
were introduced by Founder Electronics during the year. The 7th “Founder Award” Chinese Font Design Contest was 
successfully held in Beijing in 2014. The Support Program of Design Schools Genuine Fonts (設計院校正版字體支持計劃) 
increased its investment in Chinese font design education, driving the development of the overall font library industry. We 
participated in the Chinese font library project tender, being the major scientific and technological project for the press and 
publication industry, winning the 17th pack and the 20th pack (the 17th pack: word collection and sorting for contemporary 
names of people and places; the 20th pack: intermediate font library, the finished font library such as Song (宋) font and Kai 
(楷) font). In respect of B2C business, the latest “Mr. writing” (寫字先生) with IOS version and Android version, which was 
freely recommended by Apple App Store, 360 Store (360商店) and MI Store (小米商店), were launched. Users can make use 
of the program to practice calligraphy and create font design on a phone screen, and then share their works on social 
networks. Such products are expected to play as a community for calligraphy lovers.

Internet Large-scale Data Business

Founder Electronics fully entered the internet large-scale data business by integrating the existing team with newly 
introduced talents. Founder Electronics developed Founder Zhisi (方正智思) large-scale data analysis service engine based 
on internet search and analysis technology with proprietary intellectual property rights, and the internet data center was 
built in 2014. We launched and operated an internet large-scale data analysis service platform in the middle of the year, 
achieved internet network-wide data collection and intelligent analysis service based on large-scale data technology and 
cloud computing technology, successfully providing internet information services for nearly 100 government and enterprise 
clients. On this basis, for traditional internet public sentiment information service and national network security technology 
service, we undertook certain large-scale construction projects in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) to consolidate 
its traditional strength and market position. Meanwhile, we succeeded in cooperating with famous brands around the world 
in such field as household appliances and made great progress with respect to enterprise large-scale data analysis and 
information service, expanding new business field and market presence. Looking forward, we will pool our efforts and 
increase investments, striving to be one of large-scale data application market leaders in the PRC market.

Printing Business

We continued to help our clients for their business integration and transformation via our “all-in-one” (全能印廠) network 
printing intelligent production solutions, driving our transformation of business model to the provision of network and 
service, and continued to strengthen the market leading position of our main products. Founder DiaoLong (方正雕龍) CTP 
recorded steady sales growth, and Founder EagleJet (方正桀鷹) H500 played a leading position in the coding market of drug 
supervision code and two-dimension code. We comprehensively achieved safety transmission of primary and secondary 
school teaching materials through our electronic film solutions with national coverage. We solved such urgent requirements 
as cloud typesetting and content accuracy and consistency of publication through our digital printing cloud platform 
solutions, and have sought sample users. We launched K and V series EagleJet (桀鷹) inkjet printers based on the inkjet 
core technologies, and maintained our leading position in domestic inkjet digital printer market.
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Digital Media Business

By capitalizing on the historic opportunities of integration of traditional media with new media to actively drive the 
development of integration media overall solutions and rapidly boost industry layout, we recorded strong sales of Omni-
media System for News Business (暢享全媒體新聞業務系統) and cooperated with a number of heavyweight clients, further 
consolidating and strengthening the Company’s core competitiveness and enhancing our market share. Meanwhile, we 
actively promoted sales of Omni-media System for Operating Business(暢營全媒體運營業務系統) and successfully 
established such main clients as Guangzhou Daily (廣州日報) and Chongqing Daily (重慶日報), playing a leading position in 
the market. Based on our extensive practical experience in the media field and with market trend analysis and continuous 
technology innovation and product upgrade, the Company also launched such new systems as Client Resources Operating 
Platform (客戶資源運營平台), YueXiang News (悅享新聞) APP and Internet Hot News Monitoring (互聯網新聞熱點監控) 
based on cloud computing, large-scale data and mobile internet application, which were widely recognized in the industry. In 
addition, the Company conducted active industry expansion in operation of news schools and vertical industry information 
service field, laying a solid foundation for the sustainable and stable development of the Company.

Digital Publishing Business

News publishing industry ushered in the trend of “integration”. We led digital publishing technology innovation based on 
SMAC philosophy and created “Intelligent Publishing” (智慧出版) solution to achieve the transformation and upgrading of 
digital publishing industry and business model innovation, and provide such digital transformation and upgrading services 
as digital process upgrading, know-how service, new media application and service, O2O digital operation service and self 
publishing for the publishing industry, boosting the rapid development and integration of the publishing industry. Founder 
“Intelligent Publishing” solution has obtained dozens of major orders from the Central Cultural Enterprise Digital Upgrading 
(中央文化企業數字化升級改造) project, the National Digital Composite Publishing System Project (國家數字複合出版系統工
程) of the State Administration of Press, Publication, Radio, Film and Television, Jilin Publishing Group (吉林出版集團), 
Hubei Changjiang Publishing Group (湖北長江出版集團), Inner Mongolia Publishing Group (內蒙古出版集團) and Central 
China Publishing & Media Group (中原出版集團), continuing to lead the development of digital publishing industry 
technologies and solutions.

Digital Education Business

We preliminarily formed a development mechanism based on development of educational software, characterized by 
development of mobile terminal interactive resources and supported by digital education and teaching service. Founder 
smart education solutions have been used by over 100 schools in more than 20 provinces nationwide to conduct class 
interactive and mobile learning experience. Smart education solutions have won the bidding in a number of textbook 
development projects, such as the digital textbook development project of People’s Education Press and Beijing primary 
and secondary school premium curriculum resource customized purchase project. Through in-depth cooperation with 
publishers, we undertook the resource development, education cloud service platform development and operation service 
support of China Labor & Social Security Publishing House (中國勞動社會保障出版社) and the Open University of China 
Publishing & Media Group (國家開放大學出版傳媒集團), and strategically cooperated with educational publishers, such as 
Publishing House of Jinan (濟南出版社). Looking ahead, we will continue to increase research and development investment 
and expand our businesses, striving to become a leading educational resources development service provider and a 
professional digital teaching service provider in the PRC.
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(B) Information products distribution for non-media sector (“Non-Media Business”)
The turnover of the Non-Media Business for the current financial year decreased by 56.7% to approximately HK$164.2 
million (year ended 31 December 2013: HK$379.0 million) while its segment results has recorded a profit of approximately 
HK$0.6 million (year ended 31 December 2013: HK$5.5 million).

The major products provided under the Non-Media Business include various information products such as servers, storage 
devices and workstations of a number of internationally known and branded information products manufacturers such as 
HP, IBM, Hitachi, Oracle Systems and Siemon. The decrease in segment revenue and segment profit were mainly due to 
decrease in sales of information products in the banking sector in the PRC and decrease in sales of HP products to a 
subsidiary of Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a related company of the Company. The demand of 
information products was lower during the current financial year as the banking systems and other information systems 
had already been upgraded by the customers in the previous year.

PROSPECTS
To deal with the business growth, the management of the Group will closely monitor changes in the PRC’s economy and its IT 
market. The Group will continue the development of innovative solutions and provide our customers with more cost-effective 
products and solutions to meet our customers’ demands for enhancing their competitiveness. In addition, the Group will closely 
monitor the performance of each business sector to achieve effective cost control and maximise shareholders’ value.

EMPLOYEES
The Group has developed its human resources policies and procedures based on performance and merit. The Group ensures that 
the pay levels of its employees are competitive and employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the general 
framework of the Group’s salary and bonus systems. The Group provides on-the-job training to its employees in addition to 
retirement benefit schemes and medical insurance.

The Group operates share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible directors and employees 
of the Group who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The Group had not granted any share options to its eligible 
directors and employees during the current financial year.

As at 31 December 2014, the number of employees of the Group was approximately 1,216 (31 December 2013: 1,258).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity, financial resources and capital commitments
During the current financial year, the Group generally financed its operations with internally generated resources and banking 
facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong Kong and the PRC. As at 31 December 2014, the Group had interest-bearing 
bank borrowings of approximately HK$194.1 million (31 December 2013: HK$231.0 million), of which HK$75.7 million (31 
December 2013: HK$71.8 million) were fixed interest bearing and HK$118.4 million (31 December 2013: HK$159.2 million) were 
floating interest bearing. The bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), Renminbi (“RMB”) and United 
States Dollars (“U.S. dollars”), and were repayable within one year. The Group’s banking facilities were secured by corporate 
guarantees given by the Company and 北大方正集團有限公司 (Peking University Founder Group Company Limited*) (“Peking 
Founder”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the 
SME Loan Guarantee Scheme, certain of the Group’s land and buildings, investment properties and bank deposits.

At 31 December 2014, the Group recorded total assets of HK$1,692.1 million which were financed by liabilities of HK$730.6 
million, non-controlling interests of HK$0.4 million and equity of HK$961.1 million. The Group’s net asset value per share as at 31 
December 2014 amounted to HK$0.80 (31 December 2013: HK$0.82).
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The Group had total cash and bank balances of HK$550.2 million as at 31 December 2014 (31 December 2013: HK$573.3 
million). After deducting total bank borrowings of HK$194.1 million (31 December 2013: HK$231.0 million), the Group recorded 
net cash and bank balances of HK$356.1 million as at 31 December 2014 as compared to HK$342.3 million as at 31 December 
2013. The Group’s borrowings, which are subject to little seasonality, consist of mainly short term bank loans and trust receipt 
loans. As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s gearing ratio, measured on the basis of total borrowings as a percentage of total 
shareholders’ equity, was 0.20 (31 December 2013: 0.24) while the Group’s working capital ratio was 1.81 (31 December 2013: 
1.86).

At 31 December 2014, the Group did not have any material capital expenditure commitments.

Treasury policies
The Group adopts conservative treasury policies and controls tightly over its cash and risk management. The Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents are held mainly in HKD, RMB and U.S. dollars. Surplus cash is generally placed in short term deposits 
denominated in HKD, RMB and U.S. dollars.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and related hedges
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. For the operations in Hong Kong, most of the transactions are 
denominated in HKD and U.S. dollars. The exchange rate of U.S. dollars against HKD is relatively stable and the related currency 
exchange risk is considered minimal. For the operations in Mainland China, most of the transactions are denominated in RMB. No 
financial instrument was used for hedging purposes. It is expected that the expected appreciation of RMB in the long run would 
have a favourable impact on the Group.

Contracts
At 31 December 2014, the major contracts in hand for the software development and systems integration business amounted to 
approximately HK$351.6 million (31 December 2013: HK$392.0 million), which are all expected to be completed within one year 
time.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and associates
The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associates in 2014.

Charges on assets
At 31 December 2014, the Group’s land and buildings in Hong Kong of approximately HK$68.0 million and investment properties 
of approximately HK$87.0 million and bank deposits of approximately HK$25.7 million were pledged to banks to secure banking 
facilities granted.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
The Group did not have any concrete future plans for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2014.

Contingent liabilities
At 31 December 2014, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is firmly committed to the overall standards of corporate governance and has always recognized the importance of 
accountability and communication with shareholders. The Company adopted all the code provisions of Corporate Governance 
Code (the “CG Code”), as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), as its own code on corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company has fully complied with all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout 
the year ended 31 December 2014, except for the following deviations:

Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code provides that the Chairman of the board should attend the annual general meeting. Mr Fang Zhong 
Hua could not attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 23 May 2014 due to business commitment in the PRC. 
Professor Yang Bin, the President of the Company, was present to be available to answer questions at the annual general 
meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in 
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules governing dealings by all directors in the securities 
of the Company. Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, they all confirmed that they have complied with 
the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2014.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
As at the date of this Corporate Governance Report, the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) comprises six executive 
directors and three independent non-executive directors. The executive directors are Mr Fang Zhong Hua (Chairman), Professor 
Xiao Jian Guo (Deputy Chairman), Professor Yang Bin (President), Ms Yi Mei, Ms Zuo Jin and Ms Liu Yu Xiao, the independent 
non-executive directors are Mr Li Fat Chung, Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee and Mr Fung Man Yin, Sammy. To the best of knowledge of 
the directors, there is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) among members 
of the Board. The biographical details of each director are disclosed on pages 15 to 16 of this Annual Report.

The Board oversees the Group’s strategic development and determines the objectives, strategies and policies of the Group. The 
Board also monitors and controls the operating and financial performance in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives. Day-to-
day management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management of the Company under the supervision of the executive 
directors. The functions and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate. 
Matters reserved for the Board are the overall strategy of the Group, major acquisitions and disposals, major capital investments, 
dividend policy, significant changes in accounting policies, material contracts, appointment and retirement of directors, 
remuneration policy and other major operational and financial matters. The Board members have access to appropriate business 
documents and information about the Group on a timely basis. All Board members have access to the Company Secretary who is 
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures, and related rules and regulations, are followed. Minutes of Board/Committee 
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by Board members. All directors and Board committees 
have recourse to external legal counsel and other professionals for independent advice at the Group’s expense upon their request. 
Appropriate directors’ liability insurance cover has also been arranged to indemnify the Board members for liabilities arising out of 
corporate activities.

The Board held four regular Board meetings at approximately quarterly intervals during the year ended 31 December 2014. 
Additional Board meetings were held when necessary. Due notice and Board papers were given to all directors prior to the 
meetings in accordance with the Listing Rules and the CG Code.
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The attendance record of each director at the Board and general meetings is as follows:

Name of director

Board meetings 
attended/

Eligible to attend

Annual General 
meeting attended/ 

Eligible to attend

Special General 
meetings attended/

Eligible to attend

Executive Directors
Mr Fang Zhong Hua (Chairman) 3/4 0/1 1/1
Professor Xiao Jian Guo 4/4 0/1 0/1
Professor Yang Bin 3/4 1/1 0/1
Ms Yi Mei 3/4 1/1 0/1
Ms Zuo Jin (appointed on 20 March 2014) 4/4 0/1 0/1
Ms Liu Yu Xiao 2/4 0/1 0/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Li Fat Chung 2/4 1/1 1/1
Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee 2/4 1/1 1/1
Mr Fung Man Yin, Sammy 2/4 1/1 1/1

There are also three Board committees under the Board, namely, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee.

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding 
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and 
regulations.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year, directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s 
performance, position and prospects to enable the board as a whole and each director to discharge their duties. In addition, all 
directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. 
The Company updates directors on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory 
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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All directors have participated in continuous professional development and have provided to the Company the records of the 
training they received during the financial year ended 31 December 2014. The individual training record of each director received 
for the year ended 31 December 2014 is summarised below:

Name of Director

Briefings and
updates on the 

business, operations 
and corporate

governance matters

Attending seminars, 
workshops or
self-study of

materials relevant
to the business

or directors’ duties

Executive Directors
Mr Fang Zhong Hua (Chairman) 3 3

Professor Xiao Jian Guo 3 3

Professor Yang Bin 3 3

Ms Yi Mei 3 3

Ms Zuo Jin (appointed on 20 March 2014) 3 3

Ms Liu Yu Xiao 3 3

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Li Fat Chung 3 3

Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee 3 3

Mr Fung Man Yin, Sammy 3 3

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board reviewed the 
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional development of directors and 
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance 
of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated and are not exercised by the same individual. Mr Fang 
Zhong Hua is the Chairman of the Board. The primary role of the Chairman is to provide leadership for the Board and to ensure 
that it works effectively in the discharge of its responsibilities. Professor Yang Bin is the President of the Board. The President is 
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Their respective role and responsibilities are set out in 
writing which have been approved by the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
There are currently three non-executive directors, all of them are independent. Each independent non-executive director has 
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a period of one year. Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, one third 
of all the directors, including the non-executive directors, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at each annual general 
meeting.

All of the three independent non-executive directors are professional accountants practicing in Hong Kong. This composition is in 
compliance with the requirement of rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. Each independent non-executive director has, pursuant to rule 
3.13 of the Listing Rules, provided an annual confirmation of his/her independence to the Company and the Company also 
considers them to be independent.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
The Remuneration Committee of the Board was established in 2005 with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly 
with its authorities and duties. The role and functions of the committee include formulating the remuneration policy, making 
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management, making 
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive directors, reviewing and approving performance-based 
remuneration, and ensuring that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

In 2014, the Remuneration Committee met once to review and discuss the remuneration policy for the directors of the Company 
and the remuneration packages of all directors of the Company. The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and 
competitive packages based on business needs and industry practice. For determining the level of fees paid to the directors, 
market rates and factors such as each director’s workload and required commitment will be taken into account. No individual 
director will be involved in decisions relating to his/her own remuneration. Information relating to the remuneration of each 
director for 2014 is set out in Note 8 to the Company’s 2014 Financial Statements.

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year and their attendance record at the meeting are as follows:

Name of member Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

Mr Li Fat Chung (Chairman) (Independent non-executive director) 1/1
Mr Fang Zhong Hua (Executive director) 1/1
Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee (Independent non-executive director) 1/1

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS
The Nomination Committee of the Board was established on 30 March 2012 with specific written terms of reference which deal 
clearly with its authorities and duties. The role and function of the Nomination Committee include determining the policy for the 
nomination of directors, setting out the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted to select and recommend 
candidates for directorship. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing the structure, size and diversity of the 
board.

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board on 30 August 2013. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity 
has been considered from a number of aspect including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. Candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having 
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

In 2014, the Nomination Committee met once to review the structure, size and diversity of the Board, nomination procedure and 
the independence of the independent non-executive directors, and to recommend the Board on the appointment and 
reappointment of directors and succession planning for directors.
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The members of the Nomination Committee during the year and their attendance record at the meeting are as follow:

Name of member Meetings attended/ Eligible to attend

Mr Fang Zhong Hua (Chairman) (Executive director) 1/1
Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee (Independent non-executive director) 1/1
Mr Fung Man Yin, Sammy (Independent non-executive director) 1/1

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee of the Board has been established in compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules with specific written 
terms of reference in 1998 which deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The Audit Committee now solely comprises 
independent non-executive directors of the Company, namely, Mr Li Fat Chung (Chairman), Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee and Mr Fung 
Man Yin, Sammy. All the committee members possess appropriate professional accounting and financial qualifications.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, 
reappointment and removal of the external auditors, approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external 
auditors, reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process 
in accordance with applicable standard, developing and implementing policy on the engagement of external auditors to supply 
non-audit services, monitoring the integrity of the financial statements and the reports of the Company, and overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting system and internal control procedures.

In 2014, the Audit Committee met three times. During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed reports from the independent 
auditors regarding their audit on annual financial statements, review on interim financial results, discussed the internal control of 
the Group, and met with the independent auditors. 

The attendance report of the members of the Audit Committee at the meetings are as follows:

Name of member Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

Mr Li Fat Chung (Chairman) (Independent non-executive director) 3/3
Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee (Independent non-executive director) 3/3
Mr Fung Man Yin, Sammy (Independent non-executive director) 3/3

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has the ultimate responsibility to maintain a sound and effective internal control system for the Group to safeguard the 
interests of shareholders and the Group as a whole and to ensure strict compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations. The 
Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system and reporting to the Board.

The Group’s internal control system comprises a well established organisational structure and comprehensive policies and 
standards. Areas of responsibilities for each business and functional unit are clearly defined to ensure effective checks and 
balances. Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining 
proper accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial information used within the business or for publication. The 
procedures provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses or fraud. Procedures have also been 
designed to ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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During the year, the Company has carried out an overview on the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. The 
review covers all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions of the 
Group. No material internal control aspects of any significant problems were noted. Both the Audit Committee and the Board 
were satisfied that the internal control system of the Group had functioned effectively during the year under review.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young, is 
summarised as follows:

HK$’000
 

Statutory audit services 2,200

Non-audit services:
 Agreed-upon procedures on interim results 350
 Agreed-upon procedures on continuing connected transactions 100
 Limited assurance services on continuing connected transactions 35
 Compliance and tax advisory services 260

 

745
 

Total 2,945
 

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2014 which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group on a going concern basis 
in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The statement of the Auditors of the 
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditors’ 
Report on pages 23 to 24 of this Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms Tang Yuk Bo, Yvonne has been the company secretary of the Company since 20 November 2000. Ms Tang has taken relevant 
professional training to comply with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2014.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company affirms its commitment to maintaining a high degree of corporate transparency, communicating regularly with its 
shareholders and ensuring, in appropriate circumstances, the investment community at large being provided with ready, equal 
and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the Company (including its financial performance, strategic 
goals and plans, material developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable the shareholders to exercise their rights in 
an informed manner.
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THE SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING
Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and Bye-law 62 of the Bye-laws of the Company, special general 
meetings shall be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of the 
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the 
Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring a special general 
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held 
within three months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene 
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Company did not make any changes in its Memorandum of Association and New Bye-laws during the year.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Fang Zhong Hua
Chairman

Hong Kong
25 March 2015
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr Fang Zhong Hua, aged 51, is the Chairman and an executive director of the Company. He is the member of executive 
committee and senior vice president of Peking University Founder Group Company Limited (“Peking Founder”), and chairman of 
Peking University Founder Information Industry Group Co., Ltd. (北大方正信息產業集團有限公司) (“Founder Information”), a 
subsidiary of Peking Founder. He is a director of Founder Technology Group Corporation (“Founder Technology”) (stock code: 
600601), a company listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He is also a director of a number of associated companies of Peking 
Founder. Mr Fang graduated from Zhengzhou Institute of Aeronautical Industry Management and obtained a master’s degree in 
Business Administration at Peking University. He is also a Senior Economist in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). He is 
the overall team leader of National Digital Publishing Systems Engineering Project (國家數字複合出版系统工程), the major digital 
publishing project included in National “Eleventh Five-Year” during the Cultural Development Plan (國家“十一五”時期文化發展規劃
綱要) and News publishing industry “Eleventh Five-Year Plan” (新聞出版業“十一五”發展規劃). He is the vice president of China 
Computer Industry Association (中國計算機行業協會).

Professor Xiao Jian Guo, aged 58, is the Deputy Chairman and an executive director of the Company. He is also an executive 
director and Chief Technical Officer of Peking Founder. He is a director of an associated company of Peking Founder. He is a 
professor and a supervisor of PhD students of the Peking University. He graduated from the Department of Computer Science at 
the College of Dalian Ocean Communication with a bachelor’s degree in 1982 and obtained a master’s degree in Computer 
Science at Peking University.

Professor Yang Bin, aged 45, is the President and an executive director of the Company. He is also the Chairman and the 
President of Beijing Founder Electronics Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company. He obtained a master’s degree of Computer 
Science at Peking University in 1994. Professor Yang has extensive experience in the research and development in the 
information technology industry. He was awarded the “Major Technological Inventions of Information Industry Award” (信息產業
重大技術發明獎) by Ministry of Information Industry in the PRC (國家信息產業部), “China’s Top Ten Scientific and Technological 
Progress in Higher Education Award” (中國高等學校十大科技進展獎) by Ministry of Education in the PRC (國家教育部), and First 
prize of Electronic Information Science and Technology Award (電子信息科學技術獎一等獎) by Chinese Institute of Electronics (中
國電子學會).

Ms Yi Mei, aged 50, is an executive director of the Company. Ms Yi is also the vice president of Peking Founder. She is a director 
of a number of associated companies of Peking Founder. She is the chairwoman of Founder Technology (stock code: 600601), a 
company listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Ms Yi has extensive experience in finance and management and worked in 
various government departments and large enterprises in the PRC.
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Ms Zuo Jin, aged 41, is an executive director of the Company and the vice president and chief financial officer of Founder 
Information. She is the director of 北京方正印捷數碼技術有限公司 (Beijing Founder EasiPrint Digital Technology Co., Ltd.*) and 珠
海方正特會軟件系統有限公司 (Zhu Hai Te Hui Software System Co., Ltd.*), subsidiaries of the Company. Ms Zuo received her 
bachelor’s degree in Economics at University of International Business and Economics in the PRC and is a Certified Public 
Accountant in the PRC. Prior to joining Peking Founder in 2003, she was a manager of an international firm of Certified Public 
Accountants. Ms Zuo has extensive knowledge and experience in financial management.

Ms Liu Yu Xiao, aged 38, is an executive director of the Company, and President and Chief Executive Officer of Founder 
Information. She also holds directorships in a number of associated companies of Peking Founder. She received her bachelor’s 
degree in Industrial and Foreign Trading at Xi’an University of Technology in 1998 and obtained Master’s degree in Economics at 
Northeast University in 2001. Ms. Liu also obtained qualification certificate of security industry from The Security Association of 
China and graduation certificate of Master’s degree in Real Estate Economy from East China Normal University. Ms Liu has 
extensive experience in corporate strategic investment.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr Li Fat Chung, aged 54, is an independent non-executive director of the Company and Peking University Resources (Holdings) 
Company Limited. Mr Li is a director of Chan, Li, Law CPA Limited in Hong Kong. Mr Li is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) 
in Hong Kong and is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom, the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He is also an associate member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a Certified Tax Adviser of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr Li 
received a master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of Warwick, England. Mr Li has extensive experience in 
auditing, taxation and accounting.

Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee, aged 51, is an independent non-executive director of the Company and Peking University Resources 
(Holdings) Company Limited. Mrs Wong is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong. She is also a fellow member 
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. Mrs Wong has extensive experience in auditing and accounting.

Mr Fung Man Yin, Sammy, aged 55, is the Group Financial Controller of Frontier Services Group Limited, the shares of which are 
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr Fung was the Group Financial Controller of 
Management Investment & Technology (Holdings) Limited (now known as Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company 
Limited, and is a related company of the Company) from 1992 to 2000, and the Group Financial Controller of the Company from 
2000 to 2006. He has over 20 years of experience in financial management of listed companies. Mr Fung holds a first class 
honours degree in Economics and Accounting from the Newcastle University (formerly known as University of Newcastle Upon 
Tyne), England. Mr Fung is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He worked with several international accounting firms in UK and Hong Kong 
for 10 years, and he had been a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong for 20 years.

* For identification purpose only
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set 
out in note 15 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities 
during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2014 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are 
set out in the financial statements on pages 25 to 107.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial 
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 110. This summary does not form part of the audited 
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in 
notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements, respectively. Further details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on 
pages 108 to 109.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the year are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the 
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the 
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the 
year.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 31(b) to the financial 
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 December 2014, the Company’s reserves available for distribution amounted to approximately HK$194,431,000. In addition, 
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of approximately HK$53,597,000, may be distributed in the form of fully 
paid bonus shares.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the total sales for the year. 
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 41% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the 
largest supplier included therein amounted to 13%.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, Peking University Founder Information Industry Group Co., Ltd., the substantial 
shareholder of the Company, is one of the five largest customers of the Group. Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of 
the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of 
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:
Mr Fang Zhong Hua
Professor Xiao Jian Guo
Professor Yang Bin
Ms Yi Mei
Ms Zuo Jin (appointed on 20 March 2014)
Ms Liu Yu Xiao
Mr Li Sheng Li (resigned on 20 March 2014)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr Li Fat Chung
Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee
Mr Fung Man Yin, Sammy

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, Professor Yang Bin, Ms Liu Yu Xiao and Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee will retire and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr Li Fat Chung, Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee and Mr Fung Man 
Yin, Sammy, and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 15 to 16 of 
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is 
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of the directors of the Company are determined by reference to the market rates, commitments, contribution 
and their duties and responsibilities within the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to 
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURE
At 31 December 2014, the interests and short positions of the directors in the share capital, underlying shares and debenture of 
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), 
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the 
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

Number Percentage of
of ordinary the Company’s issued

Name of directors Capacity and nature of interest shares held share capital
    

Mr Fang Zhong Hua Directly beneficially owned 7,388,000 0.62
Professor Xiao Jian Guo Directly beneficially owned 7,388,000 0.62
Professor Yang Bin Directly beneficially owned 7,388,000 0.62
Ms Yi Mei Directly beneficially owned 7,388,000 0.62

Save as disclosed above and in the share option scheme below, as at 31 December 2014, none of the directors had registered an 
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debenture of the Company or any of its associated corporations that 
was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible 
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Further details of the Scheme are disclosed in note 30 to 
the financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options outstanding during the year:

Number of share options
 

Name or
category of the
participants

At
1 January

2014

Exercised
during

the year

Expired
during

the year

At
31 December 

2014

Date of
grant of the

share options

Exercise
period of

share options

Exercise
price of the

share options 
(Note 1) (Note 2)

HK$
per share

        

Executive Directors
Mr Fang Zhong Hua 4,432,800 4,432,800 — – 17.11.2011 17.11.2013 to 

16.11.2014
0.296

Professor Xiao Jian Guo 4,432,800 4,432,800 — – 17.11.2011 17.11.2013 to 
16.11.2014

0.296

Professor Yang Bin 4,432,800 4,432,800 — – 17.11.2011 17.11.2013 to 
16.11.2014

0.296

Ms Yi Mei 4,432,800 4,432,800 — – 17.11.2011 17.11.2013 to 
16.11.2014

0.296

    

Subtotal 17,731,200 17,731,200 – –
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Number of share options
 

Name or
category of the
participants

At
1 January

2014

Exercised
during

the year

Expired
during

the year

At
31 December 

2014

Date of
grant of the

share options

Exercise
period of

share options

Exercise
price of the

share options 
(Note 1) (Note 2)

HK$
per share

        

Other employees of
 the Group
In aggregate 26,596,740 22,163,940 4,432,800 – 17.11.2011 17.11.2013 to 

16.11.2014
0.296

    

Total 44,327,940 39,895,140 4,432,800 –
    

Notes to the table of share options outstanding during the year:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s 
share capital.

3. The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the exercise dates of the share options was HK$0.57 per share.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the 
Company granted to any of the directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; 
or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any 
other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 
SHARES
At 31 December 2014, so far it is known to the directors of the Company, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share 
capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of 
the SFO (other than a director or chief executive of the Company):

Long positions:

Name Notes
Capacity and

nature of interest

Number of
ordinary

shares held

Percentage of
the Company’s

issued share
capital

 #     

北大資產經營有限公司

(Peking University Asset
 Management Company Limited*)

1 Through a controlled 
corporation

367,179,610 30.60

北大方正集團有限公司

(Peking University Founder Group
 Company Limited*)
 (“Peking Founder”)

2 Through a controlled 
corporation

367,179,610 30.60

北大方正信息產業集團有限公司

(Peking University Founder Information 
 Industry Group Co., Ltd.*)

Directly beneficially owned 367,179,610 30.60

* For identification purpose only

Notes:

1. Peking University Asset Management Company Limited was deemed to be interested in the 367,179,610 shares under the SFO by virtue of its 
interest in Peking Founder.

2. Peking Founder was deemed to be interested in the 367,179,610 shares under the SFO by virtue of its interest in Peking University Founder 
Information Industry Group Co., Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, so far it is known to the directors of the Company, as at 31 December 2014, no person, other than the 
directors of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying 
shares and debenture” above, had registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that 
was required to be recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Company and the Group had the following continuing connected transactions, certain details of which are 
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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Continuing connected transactions
The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out in notes 
34(I)(b) to 34(I)(i) to the financial statements and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were entered into 
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient 
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than 
terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements 
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong 
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified 
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group 
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock 
Exchange.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.21 AND 13.22 OF THE LISTING RULES
In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included in 
respect of one of the Company’s subsidiary’s loan agreements, which contain covenants requiring performance obligations of the 
controlling shareholder of the Company. Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 25 January 2013 between Founder (Hong Kong) 
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the Company and DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited relating to loan facility of 
US$25 million, a termination event would arise if Peking Founder ceased to own beneficially, directly or indirectly, at least 30% of 
the shares in the Company’s issued capital.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the 
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Fang Zhong Hua
Chairman

Hong Kong
25 March 2015
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To the shareholders of Founder Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Founder Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 25 to 107, which comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial 
position as at 31 December 2014, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.



Founder Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2014

24

Independent Auditors’ Report
  

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the 
Group as at 31 December 2014, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central
Hong Kong

25 March 2015
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2014 2013
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

REVENUE 5 1,079,869 1,291,015

Cost of sales (716,389) (924,408)
  

Gross profit 363,480 366,607

Other income and gains 5 81,579 158,002
Selling and distribution expenses (237,297) (237,964)
Administrative expenses (76,915) (64,872)
Other expenses, net (111,519) (120,882)
Finance costs 7 (8,599) (7,778)
Share of profits and losses of associates 61 1,561

  

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 10,790 94,674

Income tax expense 10 (4,404) (8,187)
  

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6,386 86,487
  

Attributable to:
 Owners of the parent 11 6,381 86,241
 Non-controlling interests 5 246

  

6,386 86,487
  

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
 ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic HK0.5 cents HK7.6 cents

  

Diluted HK0.5 cents HK7.5 cents
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2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6,386 86,487
  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in
 subsequent periods:
  Share of other comprehensive income of associates (290) (794)
  Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (14,689) 13,320

  

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in
 subsequent periods (14,979) 12,526

  

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in
 subsequent periods:
  Revaluation surplus of land and buildings 7,461 73,230
  Income tax effect 577 (7,339)

  

Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 8,038 65,891
  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (6,941) 78,417
  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR (555) 164,904
  

Attributable to:
 Owners of the parent (551) 164,651
 Non-controlling interests (4) 253

  

(555) 164,904
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2014 2013
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 13 302,725 333,053
Investment properties 14 96,321 70,292
Investments in associates 16 6,189 6,831
Available-for-sale investments 17 9,564 15,860
Capitalised software costs 18 7,403 7,632
Finance lease receivables 23 – 7,216

  

Total non-current assets 422,202 440,884
  

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 19 71,196 49,979
Gross amount due from contract customers 20 45,400 11,496
Trade and bills receivables 21 257,597 218,087
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 344,028 313,633
Finance lease receivables 23 – 1,946
Pledged deposits 24 25,691 11,859
Cash and cash equivalents 24 524,545 561,448
Tax recoverable 1,428 –

  

Total current assets 1,269,885 1,168,448
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and bills payables 25 130,504 106,594
Gross amount due to contract customers 20 12,304 9,882
Other payables and accruals 26 361,228 275,545
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 27 194,135 231,014
Tax payable 2,298 3,486

  

Total current liabilities 700,469 626,521
  

NET CURRENT ASSETS 569,416 541,927
  

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 991,618 982,811
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2014 2013
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 28 30,093 32,540

  

Net assets 961,525 950,271
  

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued capital 29 119,975 115,985
Reserves 31(a) 841,169 833,901

  

961,144 949,886

Non-controlling interests 381 385
  

Total equity 961,525 950,271
  

Fang Zhong Hua Yang Bin
Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the parent 
Employee Land and

Share share-based buildings Exchange Non–
Issued premium Contributed compensation Capital revaluation fluctuation General Accumulated controlling Total

Notes capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

            

At 1 January 2013 113,030 32,470 867,910 5,598 3,685 172,881 47,323 45,484 (514,290) 774,091 132 774,223
Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 86,241 86,241 246 86,487
Other comprehensive income for
 the year:
 Revaluation surplus of land and 
  buildings, net of tax – – – – – 65,891 – – – 65,891 – 65,891
 Share of other comprehensive income
  of associates – – – – – – (794) – – (794) – (794)
 Exchange differences on translation  
  of foreign operations – – – – – – 13,313 – – 13,313 7 13,320            

Total comprehensive income for
 the year – – – – – 65,891 12,519 – 86,241 164,651 253 164,904
Issue of shares 29 2,955 8,308 – (2,516) – – – – – 8,747 – 8,747
Deemed disposal of an associate – – – – (3,685) – – – 3,685 – – –
Transfer to general reserve – – – – – – – 9,078 (9,078) – – –
Equity-settled share option 
 arrangements 30 – – – 2,397 – – – – – 2,397 – 2,397            

At 31 December 2013 115,985 40,778* 867,910* 5,479* –* 238,772* 59,842* 54,562* (433,442)* 949,886 385 950,271
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Attributable to owners of the parent
 

Share
Employee

share-based
Land and
buildings Exchange Non–

Issued premium Contributed compensation revaluation fluctuation General Accumulated controlling Total
Notes capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
           

At 1 January 2014 115,985 40,778 867,910 5,479 238,772 59,842 54,562 (433,442) 949,886 385 950,271
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 6,381 6,381 5 6,386
Other comprehensive income for
 the year:
 Revaluation surplus of land and 
  buildings, net of tax – – – – 8,038 – – – 8,038 – 8,038
 Share of other comprehensive income 
  of associates – – – – – (290) – – (290) – (290)
 Exchange differences on translation
  of foreign operations – – – – – (14,680) – – (14,680) (9) (14,689)           

Total comprehensive income for
 the year – – – – 8,038 (14,970) – 6,381 (551) (4) (555)
Issue of shares 29 3,990 12,819 – (5,000) – – – – 11,809 – 11,809
Transfer of share option reserve upon
 the expiry of share options – – – (479) – – – 479 – – –
Transfer to general reserve – – – – – – 122 (122) – – –           

At 31 December 2014 119,975 53,597* 867,910* –* 246,810* 44,872* 54,684* (426,704)* 961,144 381 961,525
           

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$841,169,000 (2013: HK$833,901,000) in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.
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2014 2013
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 10,790 94,674
Adjustments for:
 Finance costs 7 8,599 7,778
 Share of profits and loss of associates (61) (1,561)
 Interest income 5 (19,050) (13,903)
 Gain on deemed disposal of an associate 5 – (4,530)
 Write-back of trade and other payables (552) (3,027)
 Changes in fair value of investment properties 5 (2,058) (14,862)
 (Gain)/loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 6 (33) 281
 Depreciation 6 17,729 14,055
 Amortisation of capitalised software costs 6 2,538 1,245
 Impairment of trade receivables 6 9,905 6,036
 Impairment of other receivables 6 533 1,345
 Impairment of available-for-sale investment 6 5,742 –
 Loss on termination of finance lease 6 4,444 –
 Equity-settled share option expense 6 – 2,397

  

38,526 89,928
Increase in inventories (21,217) (13,509)
Decrease/(increase) in gross amount due from contract customers (33,904) 5,565
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables (49,415) 222,596
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (11,022) 6,329
Decrease in finance lease receivables – 754
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables 24,462 (77,752)
Increase in gross amount due to contract customers 2,422 243
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 85,683 (3,077)
Exchange differences (1,656) 1,663

  

Cash generated from operations 33,879 232,740
Interest received 3,408 3,146
Interest paid (8,599) (7,778)
Hong Kong profits tax paid (1,567) (227)
Mainland of the People’s Republic of China (“Mainland China” or the “PRC”) 
 corporate income tax paid (6,542) (6,037)

  

Net cash flows from operating activities 20,579 221,844
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2014 2013
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Net cash flows from operating activities 20,579 221,884
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 15,711 10,150
Dividend received from an associate 413 398
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment 13 (6,295) (7,691)
Addition of capitalised software costs 18 (2,500) (5,896)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 62 490
Decrease in amounts due from associates – 6
Decrease/(increase) in non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of
 more than three months when acquired (13,114) 11,391
Advances of entrusted loans to related companies (503,568) (416,688)
Repayment of entrusted loans from related companies 484,388 310,968
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits (13,832) 147

  

Net cash flows used in investing activities (38,735) (96,725)
  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares 29 11,809 8,747
New bank loans 125,573 189,902
Repayment of bank loans (133,557) (94,596)
Decrease in trust receipt loans (25,842) (99,096)

  

Net cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities (22,017) 4,957
  

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (40,173) 130,076
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 557,403 418,564
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (9,547) 8,763

  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 507,683 557,403
  

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 24 369,425 531,166
Non-pledged time deposits 24 155,120 30,282

  

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of
 financial position 524,545 561,448
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of more than
 three months when acquired (13,114) –
Bank overdrafts (3,748) (4,045)

  

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of cash flows 507,683 557,403
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2014 2013
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 15 559,088 559,088

  

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments and other receivables 22 1,664 575
Cash and cash equivalents 24 1,576 1,410

  

Total current assets 3,240 1,985
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 26 2,717 214

  

NET CURRENT ASSETS 523 1,771
  

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 559,611 560,859
  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Due to a subsidiary 15 191,608 201,710

  

Net assets 368,003 359,149
  

EQUITY
Issued capital 29 119,975 115,985
Reserves 31(b) 248,028 243,164

  

Total equity 368,003 359,149
  

Fang Zhong Hua Yang Bin
Director Director
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Founder Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The head office and 
principal place of business of the Company are located at Unit 1408, 14th Floor, Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen 
Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in 
software development, systems integration and distribution of information products.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and 
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and accounting principles 
generally accepted in Hong Kong. These financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance relating to the preparation of financial statements, which for this financial year and 
the comparative period continue to be those of the predecessor Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32), in accordance with 
transitional and saving arrangements for Part 9 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), “Accounts and Audit”, 
which are set out in sections 76 to 87 of Schedule 11 to that Ordinance. The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, except for investment properties, certain buildings classified as property, plant and 
equipment and available-for-sale investments, which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are 
presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year 
ended 31 December 2014. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the 
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group 
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the 
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the 
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, 
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and 
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting 
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had 
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised standards and new interpretation for the first time for the current year’s 
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities
 HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies
Amendment to HKFRS 2 Definition of Vesting Condition1

 included in Annual
 Improvements 2010–2012 Cycle
Amendment to HKFRS 3 Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business Combination1

 included in Annual
 Improvements 2010–2012 Cycle
Amendment to HKFRS 13 Short-term Receivables and Payables
 included in Annual
 Improvements 2010–2012 Cycle
Amendment to HKFRS 1 Meaning of Effective HKFRSs
 included in Annual
 Improvements 2011–2013 Cycle

1 Effective from 1 July 2014

Except for the amendment to HKFRS 1 which is only relevant to an entity’s first HKFRS financial statements, the nature and 
the impact of each amendment and interpretation is described below:

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 10 include a definition of an investment entity and provide an exception to the consolidation 
requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment entity. Investment entities are required to account 
for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss rather than consolidate them. Consequential amendments were 
made to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out the disclosure requirements for 
investment entities. The amendments have had no impact on the Group as the Company does not qualify as an 
investment entity as defined in HKFRS 10.

(b) The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set off” for offsetting 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the application of the offsetting criteria in HKAS 
32 to settlement systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that 
are not simultaneous. The amendments have had no impact on the Group as the Group does not have any offsetting 
arrangement.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
(c) The HKAS 39 Amendments provide an exception to the requirement of discontinuing hedge accounting in situations 

where over-the-counter derivatives designated in hedging relationships are directly or indirectly, novated to a central 
counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations, or the introduction of laws or regulations. For continuance of 
hedge accounting under this exception, all of the following criteria must be met: (i) the novations must arise as a 
consequence of laws or regulations, or the introduction of laws or regulations; (ii) the parties to the hedging 
instrument agree that one or more clearing counterparties replace their original counterparty to become the new 
counterparty to each of the parties; and (iii) the novations do not result in changes to the terms of the original 
derivative other than changes directly attributable to the change in counterparty to achieve clearing. The amendments 
have had no impact on the Group as the Group has not novated any derivatives during the current and prior years.

(d) HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 clarifies that an entity recognises a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment, as 
identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. The interpretation also clarifies that a levy liability is accrued progressively 
only if the activity that triggers payment occurs over a period of time, in accordance with the relevant legislation. For a 
levy that is triggered upon reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be 
recognised before the specified minimum threshold is reached. The interpretation has had no impact on the Group as 
the Group applied, in prior years, the recognition principles under HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets which for the levies incurred by the Group are consistent with the requirements of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21.

(e) The HKFRS 2 Amendment clarifies various issues relating to the definitions of performance and service conditions 
which are vesting conditions, including (i) a performance condition must contain a service condition; (ii) a performance 
target must be met while the counterparty is rendering service; (iii) a performance target may relate to the operations 
or activities of an entity, or to those of another entity in the same group; (iv) a performance condition may be a market 
or non-market condition; and (v) if the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to provide service during the 
vesting period, the service condition is not satisfied. The amendment has had no impact on the Group.

(f) The HKFRS 3 Amendment clarifies that contingent consideration arrangements arising from a business combination 
that are not classified as equity should be subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss whether or not 
they fall within the scope of HKFRS 9 or HKAS 39. The amendment has had no impact on the Group.

(g) The HKFRS 13 Amendment clarifies that short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rates can be 
measured at invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is immaterial. The amendment has had no impact on the 
Group.
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2.3 NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs AND NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER THE HONG KONG 
COMPANIES ORDINANCE ADOPTED
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, which have been issued but are not yet effective, in these 
financial statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments4

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
 and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
 and its Associate or Joint Venture2

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations2

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts5

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers3

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation2

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants2

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions1

Amendments to HKAS 27 (2011) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements2

Annual Improvements 2010–2012 Cycle Amendments to a number of HKFRSs1

Annual Improvements 2011–2013 Cycle Amendments to a number of HKFRSs1

Annual Improvements 2012–2014 Cycle Amendments to a number of HKFRSs2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
5 Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not 

applicable to the Group

In addition, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) will affect the presentation and disclosure of certain 
information in the consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2015. The Group is in the process of 
making an assessment of the impact of these changes.

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial 
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements 
for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 
January 2018. The Group expects that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have an impact on the classification and measurement 
of the Group’s financial assets. Further information about the impact will be available nearer the implementation date of the 
standard.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and 
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a 
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated 
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The Group expects to 
adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016.
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2.3 NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs AND NEW DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER THE HONG KONG 
COMPANIES ORDINANCE ADOPTED (continued)
The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint 
operation constitutes a business must apply the relevant principles for business combinations in HKFRS 3. The 
amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an 
additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been added 
to HKFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting 
entity, are under common control of the same ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both the acquisition of 
the initial interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation. The 
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 
1 January 2016.

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under 
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach 
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure 
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in contract 
asset and liability account balances between periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all 
current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 January 2017 and is 
currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the principle in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of 
economic benefits that are generated from operating business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic 
benefits that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate 
property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The 
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial 
position or performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 January 2016 as the Group has not used a revenue-based method 
for the calculation of depreciation of its non-current assets.

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle issued in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number of 
HKFRSs. Except for those described in note 2.2, the Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2015. None of 
the amendments are expected to have a significant financial impact on the Group. Details of the amendment most 
applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an entity must disclose the judgements made by management in applying the 
aggregation criteria in HKFRS 8, including a brief description of operating segments that have been aggregated and the 
economic characteristics used to assess whether the segments are similar. The amendments also clarify that a 
reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the reconciliation is reported to the chief 
operating decision maker.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved 
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct 
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and 
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting 
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made 
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and 
other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in 
the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group 
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint 
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from 
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not 
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of 
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any 
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss 
of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with 
HKFRS 5.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its land and buildings, investment properties, and available-for-sale investments at fair value at the end 
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the 
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The 
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, 
systems integration contract assets, financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value 
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged 
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of 
the impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in 
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in 
the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment 
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the 
other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related 
to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of 
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where 
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset 
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the 
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from 
its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset 
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the 
deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit 
or loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset 
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its 
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements 20% or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20% to 331/3%
Motor vehicles 10% to 30%
Machinery and equipment 162/3% to 20%
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is 
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and 
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a 
property which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital 
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale 
in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the 
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the statement of profit or 
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
in the year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts 
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” up to the 
date of change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property is 
accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” 
above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be 
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period 
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.



Founder Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2014

44

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2014

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate 
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete 
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to 
complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product development 
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis 
over the commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding three years, commencing from the date when the 
products are put into commercial production.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the lessee, other than legal title, are 
accounted for as finance leases. Where the Group is the lessor, amounts due from lessees under finance leases are 
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases, and finance lease income is allocated 
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in 
respect of the leases.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as 
operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are included in non-
current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the 
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any 
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease 
terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and buildings 
elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant 
and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs 
that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value 
through profit or loss.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective 
interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from 
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and 
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading 
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held 
for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market 
conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised 
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the 
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in 
other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the 
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and 
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income and dividend 
income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies 
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of 
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the 
range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less any 
impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still 
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the 
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the ability and intention to hold the assets for the 
foreseeable future or until maturity.



Founder Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2014

46

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2014

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of 
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in 
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference 
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the 
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is 
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) 
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the 
Group continues to recognise the transferred assets to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the 
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial 
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group 
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant 
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses 
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues 
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present 
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the 
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using 
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and 
receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and 
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by 
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the statement 
of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is 
objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal 
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the investment 
and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of 
impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss — is removed from other 
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments 
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after 
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant“ or “prolonged“ requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, 
among other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is less that it cost.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable 
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, other payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and 
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective 
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the 
statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a 
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the 
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, 
cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in 
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of 
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion 
and disposal.

Systems integration contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amounts and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and 
incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.

Revenue from fixed price systems integration contracts is recognised on the percentage of completion method, measured 
by reference to the percentage of work completed to date to the estimated total work of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred to 
date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from 
contract customers. Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised 
losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when 
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, 
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, 
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any 
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred 
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a 
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be 
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, 
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, 
nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from systems integration contracts, on the percentage of completion basis, as further explained in the accounting 
policy for “Systems integration contracts” above;

(c) from the rendering of services, when the transactions have been completed in accordance with the terms of the 
relevant contracts;

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, 
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(f) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants 
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration 
in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the 
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, 
further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefit expense. The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately 
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is 
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market 
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that 
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the 
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the 
control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and 
is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they 
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit schemes for those employees who are eligible to participate. 
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit 
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the respective schemes. The assets of the schemes are held 
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

When an employee leaves the Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance 
retirement benefits scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing 
contributions payable by the Group will be reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited employer contributions. In respect of 
the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme, the Group’s employer mandatory contributions vest fully with 
the employees when contributed into the scheme except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are 
refunded to the Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the 
rules of the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension 
scheme operated by the local municipal government. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the participating 
employees’ salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules 
of the central pension scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and 
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.



Founder Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2014

53

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2014

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of 
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section 
of the statement of financial position, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these 
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of 
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised 
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of 
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group 
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at 
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the 
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or 
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. 
As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation currency 
of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are 
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange 
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that 
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into 
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas 
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates 
for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from 
those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, 
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of these properties which are leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed criteria in making that 
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group 
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some 
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use 
in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or 
leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold 
separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine 
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group maintains an allowance for estimated loss arising from the inability of its customers to make the required 
payments. The Group makes its estimates based on the ageing of its trade receivable balances, customers’ 
creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of its customers was to deteriorate so that the 
actual impairment loss might be higher than expected, the Group would be required to revise the basis of making the 
allowance and its future results would be affected. Further details are given in note 21 to the financial statements.

Provision for obsolete inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of the Group at the end of each reporting period, and makes 
provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. Management 
estimates the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market 
conditions. If the market condition was to deteriorate so that the actual provision might be higher than expected, the Group 
would be required to revise the basis of making the provision and its future results would be affected.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Percentage of completion of systems integration contracts

The Group recognises revenue and costs according to the stage of completion of individual contracts. The stage of 
completion is estimated by reference to the proportion of work completed to date to the estimated total work of the relevant 
contract. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken in systems integration contracts, the date at which the contract 
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is completed usually fall into different accounting periods. 
Management reviews and revises the estimates of both contract revenue and contract costs for each contract as the 
contract progresses. Management estimates the amount of foreseeable losses of systems integration contracts based on 
the budgets prepared for the systems integration contracts.

Fair value of investment properties and land and buildings

Investment properties and land and buildings are carried in the statement of financial position at their fair values. The fair 
value was based on a valuation on the properties conducted by an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers using 
property valuation techniques which involve making assumptions on certain market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable 
changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and land and 
buildings and the corresponding adjustments to the gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss and asset 
revaluation reserve, respectively. Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value measurement and a 
sensitivity analysis, are given in notes 14 and 13 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and other deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the losses and the deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The 
total amount of unrecognised deductible temporary differences and unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2014 was 
approximately HK$346,789,000 (2013: HK$331,033,000). Further details are included in note 28 to the financial statements.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy for research and development costs in note 2.4 
to the financial statements. Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires management to make assumptions 
regarding the expected future cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of 
benefits. At 31 December 2014, the best estimate of the carrying amount of capitalised development cost was 
HK$7,403,000 (2013: HK$7,632,000).

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale and recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the 
fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value to determine whether there is an 
impairment that should be recognised in the statement of profit or loss. At 31 December 2014, impairment loss of 
HK$5,742,000 has been recognised for available-for-sale assets (2013: Nil). The carrying amount of available-for-sale assets 
was HK$9,564,000 (2013: HK$15,860,000).
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and has four 
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the software development, systems integration and information products distribution for media business segment 
provides electronic publishing and broadcasting systems to media companies;

(b) the information products distribution for non-media business segment provides information products to financial 
institutions, enterprises and government departments;

(c) the corporate segment comprises corporate income and expense items; and

(d) the “others” segment comprises principally rental income from investment properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently 
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income, gain on deemed disposal of an associate, net foreign 
exchange differences, finance costs and share of profits and losses of associates as well as head office and corporate 
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents and other unallocated head office and corporate 
assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings, tax payable and other unallocated head office and corporate 
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Software 
development, systems 

integration and 
information products 
distribution for media 

business

Information products 
distribution for 

non-media business Corporate Others Total
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
          

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers 915,246 911,664 164,166 378,965 – – 457 386 1,079,869 1,291,015

  

Revenue 1,079,869 1,291,015
  

Segment results 10,487 76,701 616 5,496 (11,355) (682) 1,719 1,654 1,467 83,169
Reconciliation:
Interest income 19,050 13,903
Gain on deemed disposal of 
 an associate – 4,530
Foreign exchange 
 differences, net (1,189) (711)
Finance costs (8,599) (7,778)
Share of profits and losses
 of associates 61 1,561

  

Profit before tax 10,790 94,674
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Software development, 
systems integration and 

information products 
distribution for media 

business

Information products 
distribution for 

non-media business Others Total
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
        

Segment assets 880,172 799,626 141,199 125,972 162,984 155,301 1,184,355 1,080,899
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment receivables (50,350) (52,280)
Investments in associates 6,189 6,831
Corporate and other unallocated assets 551,893 573,882

  

Total assets 1,692,087 1,609,332
  

Segment liabilities 547,800 450,837 23,493 15,262 10,469 10,530 581,762 476,629
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment payables (50,350) (52,280)
Corporate and other unallocated 
 liabilities 199,150 234,712

  

Total liabilities 730,562 659,061
  

Other segment information:
Impairment losses recognised
 in the statement of profit or loss 10,071 6,118 6,109 1,263 – – 16,180 7,381
Depreciation and amortisation 18,511 13,942 1,750 1,356 6 2 20,267 15,300
Capital expenditure* 4,551 7,651 1,735 36 9 4 6,295 7,691

        

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Hong Kong 170,447 385,428
Mainland China 909,332 905,571
Others 90 16

  

1,079,869 1,291,015
  

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Hong Kong 162,948 155,322
Mainland China 243,989 263,557
Others 15,265 22,005

  

422,202 440,884
  

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets.

Information about a major customer

During the year ended 31 December 2013, revenue of approximately HK$108,683,000 was derived from sales by the 
information products for non-media business segment to a single customer.

During the year ended 31December 2014, there was no revenue derived from transactions with a single external customer 
which individually amounted to 10% of the Group’s revenue.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns 
and trade discounts; an appropriate proportion of contract revenue of systems integration contracts; and the value of 
services rendered during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

2014 2013
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Revenue
Software development, systems integration and information products
 distribution 1,079,412 1,290,629
Others 457 386

  

1,079,869 1,291,015
  

Other income
Bank interest income 3,452 3,146
Other interest income 15,598 10,634
Gross rental income 1,768 2,778
Government grants (note a) 40,657 56,589
Others 7,670 6,529

  

69,145 79,676
  

Gains
Fair value gains on investment properties 14 2,058 14,862
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate 17 – 4,530
Gain on transfer of intellectual properties (note b) 10,343 58,934
Others 33 –

  

12,434 78,326
  

81,579 158,002
  

Notes:

a. Various government grants have been received for the sale of software approved by the PRC tax authority and the development of software in 
Mainland China. The government grants have been recognised upon sale of approved software and completion of the development of related 
software, respectively. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Notes: (continued)

b. On 18 March 2013, Peking University Founder Group Company Limited* (北大方正集團有限公司) (“Peking Founder”) and Beijing Founder 
Electronics Co., Ltd. (“Founder Electronics”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Intellectual Properties 
Transfer Agreement with China Digital Video (Beijing) Limited* (新奧特(北京)視頻技術有限公司) (“China Digital Video”) to transfer their titles 
and interest in certain patents, patent application rights, trademarks and the software to China Digital Video. On the same date, Peking 
Founder, Founder Electronics, Peking University entered into the Patent Licensing Agreement with China Digital Video to grant certain 
exclusive rights to use the patents and patent application rights for the entire validity period to China Digital Video.

Further details of the transactions were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 18 March 2013 and the circular of the Company 
dated 16 April 2013.

During the year, a gain of HK$10,343,000 (year ended 31 December 2013: HK$58,934,000) from the above transactions has been recognised 
in other income and gains in the statement of profit or loss.

* For identification purpose only

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2014 2013
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Auditors’ remuneration 2,200 2,100
Cost of inventories sold 640,500 893,245
Depreciation 13 17,729 14,055
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment* (33) 281
Loss on termination of finance lease* 4,444 –
Minimum lease payments under operating leases for land and buildings 15,041 16,874
Impairment of trade receivables* 21 9,905 6,036
Impairment of other receivables* 22 533 1,345
Impairment of available-for-sale investments* 17 5,742 –
Provision/(reversal of provision) for obsolete inventories** 391 (2,259)
Research and development costs:
 current year expenditure* 85,680 104,019
 amortisation of capitalised software costs* 18 2,538 1,245

Employee benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration — note 8):
 Wages and salaries 218,339 165,729
 Pension scheme contributions*** 25,620 26,777
 Equity-settled share option expense – 2,397
 Less: Amount capitalised (2,500) (5,896)

  

241,459 189,007
  

Foreign exchange differences, net 1,189 711
Direct operating expenses (including repair and maintenance) 
 arising on rental-earning investment properties 841 681

  

* These items are included in “Other expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

** This item is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

*** At 31 December 2014, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years 
(2013: Nil).
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7. FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 8,599 7,778
  

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and section 78 of Schedule 11 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 
(Cap. 622), with reference to section 161 of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.32), is as follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Fees 402 399
  

Other emoluments:
 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,934 2,327
 Performance related bonuses* 1,360 1,325
 Equity-settled share option expenses – 1,020

  

4,294 4,672
  

4,696 5,071
  

* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined with reference to the performance of the 
Group’s operations.
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Mr Li Fat Chung 138 138
Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee 132 129
Mr Fung Man Yin, Sammy 132 132

  

402 399
  

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2013: Nil).

(b) Executive directors

Fees

Salaries,
allowances

and benefits
in kind

Performance
related

bonuses

Equity-settled
share option

expenses

Pension
scheme

contributions
Total

remuneration
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

2014

Mr Fang Zhong Hua – 190 – – – 190
Professor Xiao Jian Guo – 1,551 831 – – 2,382
Professor Yang Bin – 953 529 – – 1,482
Ms Yi Mei – 240 – – – 240
Ms Liu Yu Xiao – – – – – –
Ms Zuo Jin4 – – – – – –
Mr Li Sheng Li3 – – – – – –

      

— 2,934 1,360 – – 4,294
      

2013

Mr Fang Zhong Hua – 43 – 240 – 283
Professor Xiao Jian Guo – 1,363 795 240 – 2,398
Mr Liu Xiao Kun2 – 11 – 60 – 71
Professor Yang Bin – 867 530 240 – 1,637
Ms Yi Mei – 43 – 240 – 283
Mr Wo Fei Yu2 – – – – – –
Mr Li Sheng Li1 – – – – – –
Ms Liu Yu Xiao1 – – – – – –

      

— 2,327 1,325 1,020 – 4,672
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors (continued)

1 Appointed on 2 April 2013
2 Resigned on 2 April 2013
3 Resigned on 20 March 2014
4 Appointed on 20 March 2014

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2013: two) directors, details of whose remuneration are set 
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2013: three) non-director, highest paid 
employees for the year are as follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,527 2,576
Performance related bonuses 122 783
Equity-settled share option expenses – 240
Pension scheme contributions 151 152

  

2,800 3,751
  

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

2014 2013
  

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 –
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 3

  

3 3
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10. INCOME TAX

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Group:
 Current
  Charge for the year — Hong Kong – 547
  Charge for the year – Mainland China 1,879 6,856
  Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years 3,614 (349)
 Deferred (note 28) (1,089) 1,133

  

Total tax charge for the year 4,404 8,187
  

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong 
during the year.

PRC corporate income tax represents the tax charged on the estimated assessable profits arising in Mainland China. In 
general, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate of 25% except for certain PRC 
subsidiaries which are entitled to a preferential tax rate at 15%.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the 
Group operates.

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to approximately HK$49,000 (2013: HK$210,000) is included in 
“Share of profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the 
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation 
of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

2014 2013
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

    

Profit before tax 10,790 94,674
    

Tax at the statutory tax rate 3,618 33.5 23,013 24.3
Lower tax rate for specific provinces or enacted
 by local authority 89 0.8 (9,282) (9.8)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of previous period 3,614 33.5 (349) (0.4)
Profits and losses attributable to associates (36) (0.3) (308) (0.3)
Income not subject to tax (7,253) (67.2) (14,022) (14.8)
Expenses not deductible for tax 5,574 51.6 5,585 5.9
Tax losses utilised from previous periods (6,552) (60.7) – –
Tax losses not recognised 5,350 49.6 3,550 3.7

    

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate 4,404 40.8 8,187 8.6
    

11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT
The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2014 includes a loss of 
approximately HK$2,955,000 (2013: a loss of HK$4,416,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the 
Company (note 31(b)).

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,173,368,846 (2013: 1,134,348,107) in issue 
during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent as used in the basic earnings per share calculation. The weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share 
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the 
deemed exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Number of shares

2014 2013
  

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
 during the year used in the basic earnings per share calculation 1,173,368,846 1,134,348,107

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of ordinary shares:
 share options – 15,199,429

  

1,173,368,846 1,149,547,536
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Land and
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture,
fixtures

and office
equipment

Machinery
and

equipment
Motor

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

31 December 2014

At 31 December 2013 and 
 at 1 January 2014:
 Cost or valuation 309,126 12,028 47,238 9,668 12,035 390,095
 Accumulated depreciation – (11,453) (37,151) (1,147) (7,291) (57,042)

      

 Net carrying amount 309,126 575 10,087 8,521 4,744 333,053
      

At 1 January 2014, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 309,126 575 10,087 8,521 4,744 333,053
Additions – – 2,970 1,599 1,726 6,295
Transfer from termination of 
 a finance lease – – – 3,779 – 3,779
Disposals – – (29) – – (29)
Surplus on revaluation 7,461 – – – – 7,461
Depreciation provided 
 during the year (7,845) (566) (5,231) (3,428) (659) (17,729)
Transfer to investment 
 properties (note 14) (23,971) – – – – (23,971)
Exchange realignment (5,551) (9) (232) (229) (113) (6,134)

      

At 31 December 2014, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 279,220 – 7,565 10,242 5,698 302,725

      

At 31 December 2014:
 Cost or valuation 279,220 11,886 45,918 14,754 13,494 365,272
 Accumulated depreciation – (11,886) (38,353) (4,512) (7,796) (62,547)

      

 Net carrying amount 279,220 – 7,565 10,242 5,698 302,725
      

Analysis of cost or valuation:
 At cost – 11,886 45,918 14,754 13,494 86,052
 At 31 December 2014
  valuation 279,220 – – – – 279,220

      

279,220 11,886 45,918 14,754 13,494 365,272
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group

Land and
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture,
fixtures

and office
equipment

Machinery
and

equipment
Motor

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

31 December 2013

At 1 January 2013:
 Cost or valuation 237,310 11,877 53,854 – 10,768 313,809
 Accumulated depreciation – (10,747) (37,643) – (8,162) (56,552)

      

 Net carrying amount 237,310 1,130 16,211 – 2,606 257,257
      

At 1 January 2013, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 237,310 1,130 16,211 – 2,606 257,257
Additions – – 4,790 – 2,901 7,691
Transfer from inventories – – – 4,506 – 4,506
Disposals – – (766) – (5) (771)
Surplus on revaluation 73,230 – – – – 73,230
Depreciation provided 
 during the year (6,022) (578) (5,466) (1,133) (856) (14,055)
Transfers – – (5,026) 5,026 – –
Exchange realignment 4,608 23 344 122 98 5,195

      

At 31 December 2013, net of 
 accumulated depreciation 309,126 575 10,087 8,521 4,744 333,053

      

At 31 December 2013:
 Cost or valuation 309,126 12,028 47,238 9,668 12,035 390,095
 Accumulated depreciation – (11,453) (37,151) (1,147) (7,291) (57,042)

      

 Net carrying amount 309,126 575 10,087 8,521 4,744 333,053
      

Analysis of cost or valuation:
 At cost – 12,028 47,238 9,668 12,035 80,969
 At 31 December 2013
  valuation 309,126 – – – – 309,126

      

309,126 12,028 47,238 9,668 12,035 390,095
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
The Group’s land and buildings included above are held under the following lease terms:

2014 2013

Hong Kong
Mainland 

China Total Hong Kong
Mainland 

China Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Long term leases – 206,590 206,590 – 224,169 224,169
Medium term leases 72,630 – 72,630 84,957 – 84,957

      

72,630 206,590 279,220 84,957 224,169 309,126
      

The Group’s land and buildings consist of certain residential properties and commercial properties in the PRC, certain 
commercial properties and car parking spaces in Hong Kong. The directors of the Company have determined that the land 
and buildings consist of three classes of asset, i.e., residential, commercial and car parking space, based on the nature, 
characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s land and buildings were revalued on 31 December 2014 based on 
valuations performed by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at 
HK$279,220,000. A revaluation surplus of HK$7,461,000, resulting from the above valuations, has been credited to other 
comprehensive income. Each year, the Group’s management decide to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for 
the external valuations of the Group’s land and buildings. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, 
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group’s management have discussions with the 
valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would 
have been approximately HK$28,820,000 (2013: HK$39,903,000).

At 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s land and buildings with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$67,950,000 
(2013: HK$80,600,000) in Hong Kong were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s land and buildings:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2014 using

Quoted
prices in

active
markets

Significant
observable

inputs

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Commercial properties – – 69,022 69,022
Residential properties – – 205,518 205,518
Car parking spaces – – 4,680 4,680
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2013 using

Quoted
prices in

active
markets

Significant
observable

inputs

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Commercial properties – – 82,710 82,710
Residential properties – – 222,059 222,059
Car parking spaces – – 4,357 4,357

    

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 
out of Level 3 (2013: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Residential
properties

Commercial
properties

Car parking
spaces

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Carrying amount at 1 January 2013 168,862 63,798 4,650
Net gain/(loss) from a fair value adjustment recognised 
 in other comprehensive income 53,279 20,151 (200)
Depreciation provided during the year (4,634) (1,295) (93)
Exchange realignment 4,552 56 –

   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 222,059 82,710 4,357
Net gain/(loss) from a fair value adjustment recognised 
 in other comprehensive income (4,963) 12,014 410
Depreciation provided during the year (6,080) (1,678) (87)
Transfer to investment properties – (23,971) –
Exchange realignment (5,498) (53) –

   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2014 205,518 69,022 4,680
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of land and buildings:

Valuation
techniques

Significant
unobservable inputs

Range or
weighted average

2014 2013
     

Market approach Adjustment on market
 unit price (per s.q.m)

-28% to -40% -25% to -40%

Residential properties Income approach Adjustment on market rental
 (per s.q.m. and per month)

-25% to -40% -25% to -40%

Capitalisation rate 1.66% to 1.77% 1.52% to 1.56%

Commercial properties Market approach Adjustment on market
 unit price (per s.q.m)

-30% to 7% -2% to 11%

Car parking spaces Market approach Adjustment on market
 unit price (per s.q.m)

-15% to 0% -10% to 0%

Under the market approach, fair value is estimated based on the unit prices of comparable properties with certain 
adjustments made to reflect the differences in location, neighborhood, environment, facilities, etc. Comparable properties of 
similar size, character and location are analysed and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages and 
disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of capital values. Physical, locational and economical 
characteristics are important criteria to be analysed when comparing such comparable properties against the subject 
properties.

The adjustment on market unit price is determined by referring to the differences of the subject properties against the 
comparable properties in terms of time, building facilities, floor, view, size, age and the listing nature of the comparable 
properties.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the unit prices of comparable in isolation would result in a significant increase/
(decrease) in the fair value of the land and buildings. A significant increase/(decrease) in the adjustment to the unit price 
would result in a significant change in the fair value of the land and buildings.

Under the income approach, fair value is estimated by capitalising the adjusted market rental income at an adjusted market 
capitalisation rate. Market rental and market capitalising rate are determined by making reference to market listing price 
and rental of comparable properties.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The adjustment on market rental is determined by referring to the differences of the subject property against the 
comparable properties in terms of building facilities, size, age and the listing nature of the comparable properties. The 
adjustment on market capitalising rate is determined by referring to the class of comparable properties.

A significant increase/(decrease) in market rental in isolation would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair 
value of the land and buildings. A significant increase/(decrease) in the adjustment to the market rental would result in a 
significant decrease/(increase) in the land and buildings. A significant increase/(decrease) in the capitalisation rate in 
isolation would result in a significant decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the land and buildings. A significant increase/
(decrease) in the adjustment to the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant decrease/(increase) in the fair 
value of the land and buildings.

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Carrying amount at 1 January 70,292 55,430
Net gain from a fair value adjustment (note 5) 2,058 14,862
Transfer from owner-occupied properties (note 13) 23,971 –

  

Carrying amount at 31 December 96,321 70,292
  

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Hong Kong and the PRC and are held under medium term leases.

The Group’s investment properties consist of certain commercial properties, residential properties and car parking spaces 
in Hong Kong and one commercial property in the PRC. The directors of the Company have determined that the investment 
properties consist of three classes of asset, i.e., commercial, residential and car parking space, based on the nature, 
characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2014 based 
on valuations performed by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, at 
HK$96,321,000. Each year, the Group’s management decide to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for the 
external valuations of the Group’s investment properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, 
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group’s management have discussions with the 
valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases, further summary details of which are included 
in note 33(a) to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s investment properties with a carrying value of approximately HK$87,030,000 
(2013: HK$68,839,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on pages 108 to 109 of the annual report.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2014 using

Quoted
prices in

active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Commercial properties – – 78,621 78,621
Residential properties – – 15,570 15,570
Car parking spaces – – 2,130 2,130

    

Fair value measurement
as at 31 December 2013 using

Quoted
prices in

active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Commercial properties – – 54,089 54,089
Residential properties – – 14,290 14,290
Car parking spaces – – 1,913 1,913

    

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 
out of Level 3 (2013: Nil).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Commercial
properties

Residential
properties

Car parking
spaces

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Carrying amount at 1 January 2013 40,570 12,840 2,020
Net gain/(loss) from a fair value adjustment recognised 
 in other income and gains in profit or loss 13,519 1,450 (107)

   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 54,089 14,290 1,913
Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised 
 in other income and gains in profit or loss 561 1,280 217
Transfer from owner-occupied properties 23,971 – –

   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2014 78,621 15,570 2,130
   

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation 
techniques

Significant 
unobservable inputs Range

2014 2013
     

Commercial properties Investment
 approach

Adjustment on market
 unit price (per s.q.m)

-55% to 7% -2% to 11%

Adopted yield 2.5% to 2.9% 2.3% to 2.8%

Residential properties Investment
 approach

Adjustment on market
 unit price (per s.q.m)

-8% to 15% -9% to 9%

Adopted yield 2.4% to 3.2% 1.9% to 3.0%

Car parking spaces Investment
 approach

Adjustment on market
 unit price (per s.q.m)

0.0% to 3.2% -2% to -3%

Adopted yield 2.9% to 3.8% 2.8% to 4.8%

Under the investment approach, fair value is estimated by capitalising the current rental income and the reversionary value 
of the properties after tenancies expire and by referring to market sales transactions after making relevant adjustments.

The adjustment on market unit price is determined by referring to the differences of the subject properties against the 
comparable properties in terms of time, size, view, floor and floor loading. The yields adopted are determined by referring to 
the current yields of the subject properties and the market yields published by the Rating and Valuation Department 
regarding the respective property types.

A significant increase/(decrease) in market unit price in isolation would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair 
value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the adjustment to the market unit price would result 
in a significant change in the fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the yield in isolation 
would result in a significant decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment properties.
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Unlisted shares, at cost 559,088 559,088
  

The amount due to a subsidiary included in the Company’s non-current liability is unsecured, interest-free and not repayable 
within one year.

As at 31 December 2014, the particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered
share capital

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal
activitiesDirect Indirect

      

Founder (Hong Kong)
 Limited (“Founder HK”)

Hong Kong Ordinary
 HK$110,879,989

100 – Information
 products distribution
 and investment
 holding

Founder Electronics#* PRC/
 Mainland China

Registered
 HK$230 million

– 100 Software
 development,
 systems
 integration and
 information
 products distribution

北京方正印捷數碼技術

 有限公司 (Beijing Founder
 EasiPrint Digital Technology
 Co., Ltd.@) (“Founder
 EasiPrint”)#*

PRC/
 Mainland China

Registered
 RMB50 million

– 100 Software
 development,
 systems
 integration and
 information
 products distribution

北京方正數字印刷技術

 有限公司 (Beijing Founder
 Digital Printing Technology
 Co., Ltd.@) #*

PRC/
 Mainland China

Registered
 RMB5 million

– 100 Software
 development,
 systems
 integration and
 information
 products distribution
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operations

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered
share capital

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal
activitiesDirect Indirect

      

Founder Electronics
 (HK) Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary
 HK$2

– 100 Systems
 integration and
 information
 products 
 distribution

Sparkling Idea Limited* British Virgin
 Islands/Hong Kong

Ordinary
 US$1

– 100 Investment
 holding

Royal Bright Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
 HK$2

– 100 Property
 holding

Royal Leader Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
 HK$2

– 100 Property
 holding

Royal Power Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
 HK$2

– 100 Property
 holding

Sharp Century Limited Hong Kong Ordinary
 HK$2

– 100 Property
 holding

PUC Founder (M)
 Sdn. Bhd.*

Malaysia Ordinary
 RM500,000

– 100 Investment
 holding

@ For identification purpose only

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results 
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the 
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Share of net assets 6,158 6,800
Due from associates 31 31

  

6,189 6,831
  

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

In the opinion of the directors, none of the Group’s associates principally affected the results for the year or formed a 
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates are held through a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group’s associates that are not individually 
material:

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Share of the associates’ profit for the year 61 1,561
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive income (290) (794)
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive income (229) 767
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investments in the associates 6,189 6,831
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17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Listed equity investment, at fair value:
 Malaysia 9,564 15,860

  

On 31 December 2013, PUC Founder (MSC) Berhad (“PUC Founder (MSC)”), a then associate of the Group listed on ACE 
Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, issued 750,000,000 new shares to a new investor. Accordingly, the percentage 
of equity interest in PUC Founder (MSC) owned by the Group was diluted from 28.36% to 3.19%. In addition, the composition 
of the board of directors of PUC Founder (MSC) was restructured after the issuance of the new shares. As a result, the 
directors of the Company considered that the Group could no longer exercise significant influence over PUC Founder (MSC). 
The investment in PUC Founder (MSC) was reclassified as available-for-sale investments. A gain on deemed disposal of 
approximately HK$4,530,000 was recognised in other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year 
ended 31 December 2013. The gain was the difference between the fair value of the retained 3.19% equity interest of PUC 
Founder (MSC) and the carrying amount of PUC Founder (MSC) at the date when significant influence was lost, plus the 
currency translation differences associated in PUC Founder (MSC) previously recognised in other comprehensive income.

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities which were designated as available-for-sale financial 
assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

There was a significant decline in the market value of the listed equity investments during the year. The directors consider 
that such a decline indicates that the listed equity investments have been impaired and an impairment loss of HK$5,742,000 
(2013: Nil) has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the year.

18. CAPITALISED SOFTWARE COSTS

Group

2014
HK$’000

 

31 December 2014

Cost at 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014, net of accumulated amortisation 7,632
Addition 2,500
Amortisation provided during the year (2,538)
Exchange realignment (191)

 

At 31 December 2014 7,403
 

At 31 December 2014:
 Cost 11,262
 Accumulated amortisation (3,859)

 

 Net carrying amount 7,403
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18. CAPITALISED SOFTWARE COSTS (continued)

Group
2013

HK$’000
 

31 December 2013

Cost at 1 January 2013, net of accumulated amortisation 2,917
Addition 5,896
Amortisation provided during the year (1,245)
Exchange realignment 64

 

At 31 December 2013 7,632
 

At 31 December 2013:
 Cost 9,011
 Accumulated amortisation (1,379)

 

 Net carrying amount 7,632
 

During the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013, capitalised software costs were related to development expenditure 
on news publishing and printing software.

19. INVENTORIES

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Trading stocks 71,196 49,979
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20. GROSS AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CONTRACT CUSTOMERS

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Gross amount due from contract customers 45,400 11,496
Gross amount due to contract customers (12,304) (9,882)

  

33,096 1,614
  

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses to date 101,893 70,921
Less: Progress billings (68,797) (69,307)

  

33,096 1,614
  

Included in the Group’s amount due from/to contract customers are amount due from/to a subsidiary of Peking Founder, of 
approximately HK$63,000 (2013: Nil) and HK$3,859,000 (2013: Nil), respectively.

21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Trade and bills receivables 292,472 246,112
Impairment (34,875) (28,025)

  

257,597 218,087
  

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is 
normally required. Trade and bills receivables are settled in accordance with the terms of the respective contracts. Each 
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue 
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade 
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group 
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade and bills receivable balances. Trade and bills 
receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
An aging analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net 
of provisions, is as follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Within 6 months 213,757 187,485
7 to 12 months 35,532 9,956
13 to 24 months 8,308 20,646

  

257,597 218,087
  

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

At 1 January 28,025 25,328
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 9,905 6,036
Amount written off as uncollectible (2,494) (3,963)
Exchange realignment (561) 624

  

At 31 December 34,875 28,025
  

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade receivables 
of approximately HK$3,397,000 (2013: HK$5,288,000) with a carrying amount before provision of approximately 
HK$3,397,000 (2013: HK$5,288,000). The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were in financial 
difficulties and the full amount of the receivables is expected to be irrecoverable.
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21. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
The aging analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as 
follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Neither past due nor impaired 60,021 42,712
Less than 6 months past due 98,647 100,655

  

158,668 143,367
  

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for whom there was 
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good track 
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for 
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the 
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are amounts due from subsidiaries of Peking Founder and a subsidiary of 
Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“PKU Resources”) of approximately HK$16,148,000 (2013: 
HK$17,774,000) and nil (2013: HK$6,938,000), which are repayable on similar credit terms to those offered to the major 
customers of the Group.

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Prepayments 26,166 38,639 303 575
Deposits and other receivables 80,788 61,138 1,361 –
Entrusted loans 34(I)(g) 249,400 230,220 – –

    

356,354 329,997 1,664 575
Impairment (12,326) (16,364) – –

    

344,028 313,633 1,664 575
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
The movement in provision for impairment of other receivables during the year are as follows:

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

At 1 January 16,364 14,603
Impairment losses recognized (note 6) 533 1,345
Amount written off as uncollectible (4,196) –
Exchange realignment (375) 416

  

At 31 December 12,326 16,364
  

The individually impaired other receivables of approximately HK$4,196,000 (2013: nil) relate to debtors that were in financial 
difficulties and the outstanding receivables are not expected to be recovered.

Apart from the foregoing, the above provision for impairment of other receivables as at 31 December 2014 and 2013 also 
included the provision made against the remaining balances of the receivables collectively as at that date. The Group does 
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

23. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Current finance lease receivables – 1,946
Non-current finance lease receivables – 7,216

  

— 9,162
  

The Group entered into a finance lease arrangement for certain of its advanced printing equipment in 2012. The finance 
lease arrangement was terminated in 2014.
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23. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (continued)
As at 31 December 2013, the total minimum lease payment receivables under the finance lease and their present values 
were as follows:

Minimum lease 
payments

2013

Present value of
minimum lease

payments
2013

HK$’000 HK$’000
  

Amounts receivable:
 Not later than one year 2,046 1,946
 Later than one year and not later than five years 7,380 7,216
 Above five years – –

  

9,426 9,162
 

Less: Unearned finance income (264)
 

Total net finance lease receivables 9,162
 

The average effective interest rate contracted is approximately 1.2% per annum.

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Cash and bank balances 369,425 531,166 1,576 1,410
Time deposits with original maturity
 of three months or less when acquired 150,369 41,845 – –

    

519,794 573,011 1,576 1,410

Time deposits with original maturity
 of over three months when acquired 30,442 296 – –
Less: Pledged time deposits 27 (25,691) (11,859) – –

    

Cash and cash equivalents 524,545 561,448 1,576 1,410
    

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to 
approximately HK$369,538,000 (2013: HK$374,095,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, 
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of 
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to 
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for 
varying periods of between seven days and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and 
earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with 
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
An aging analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as 
follows:

Group
2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000
  

Within 6 months 109,304 91,684
7 to 12 months 9,029 3,207
13 to 24 months 3,909 3,112
Over 24 months 8,262 8,591

  

130,504 106,594
  

Included in the Group’s trade and bills payables are amounts due to subsidiaries of Peking Founder of approximately 
HK$5,471,000 (2013: HK$1,260,000) and to a subsidiary of PKU Resources of approximately HK$264,000 (2013: Nil), which 
are repayable on similar credit terms to those offered by the related companies to their major customers.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 15 to 90 days.

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Deferred income 24,291 20,716 – –
Other payables 98,443 68,985 2,717 214
Accruals 142,936 117,981 – –
Receipt in advance 95,558 67,863 – –

    

361,228 275,545 2,717 214
    

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

Group 2014 2013
Effective

contractual
interest rate

(%) Maturity HK$’000

Effective
contractual

interest rate
(%) Maturity HK$’000

      

Current
Bank overdrafts — secured 2.29–2.42 On demand 3,748 2.32–2.35 On demand 4,045

Bank loans — unsecured 1.77–6.96 2015 100,933 1.74–6.30 2014 111,673

Bank loans — secured 3.33–3.34 On demand 40,000 3.18–3.35 On demand 40,000

Trust receipt loans — secured 1.62–2.75 2015 49,454 1.75–3.21 2014 75,296
  

194,135 231,014
  

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Analysed into:
 Bank loans repayable:
  Within one year or on demand 194,135 231,014

  

Notes:

(a) The unsecured bank loans of approximately HK$100,633,000 (2013: HK$110,173,000) were guaranteed by Peking Founder. The unsecured 
bank loan of approximately HK$300,000 (2013: HK$1,500,000) was guaranteed by the Company and the Government of the Hong Kong 
Special Administrative Region under the SME Loan Guarantee Scheme.

(b) The Group’s trade finance facilities, secured bank loans and overdrafts at the end of the reporting period were secured by:

(i) charges over certain of the Group’s investment properties which had an aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period of 
approximately HK$87,030,000 (2013: HK$68,839,000);

(ii) charges over certain of the Group’s land and buildings which had an aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period of 
approximately HK$67,950,000 (2013: HK$80,600,000);

(iii) the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to approximately HK$25,691,000 (2013: HK$11,859,000);

(iv) the guarantees by the Company and the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the SME Loan Guarantee 
Scheme; and

(v) the guarantee by a standby letter of credit (“SBLC”) issued by Peking Founder of approximately HK$37,410,000 (2013: Nil).

(c) The Group’s bank borrowings with carrying amounts of HK$52,440,000 (2013: HK$45,545,000), HK$41,062,000 (2013: HK$73,381,000), nil 
(2013: HK$1,915,000) and HK$100,632,000 (2013: HK$110,173,000) were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars, Great 
Britain Sterling Pound and RMB, respectively.

(d) The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings approximate to their fair values.
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28. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax liabilities

Group

Fair value 
adjustment

on available-
for-sale

investments
Revaluation

of properties Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At 1 January 2013 – 23,477 23,477
Deferred tax charged to the statement of profit or loss (note 10) 1,133 – 1,133
Deferred tax debited to equity during the year – 7,339 7,339
Exchange realignment (50) 641 591

   

Gross deferred tax liabilities
 at 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 1,083 31,457 32,540

Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit or loss (note 10) (1,089) – (1,089)
Deferred tax credited to equity during the year – (577) (577)
Exchange realignment 6 (787) (781)

   

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2014 – 30,093 30,093
   

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Depreciation allowances in excess of related depreciation (33,100) (32,458)
Tax losses 329,253 325,732
Impairment of trade receivables 34,875 28,025
Provision for obsolete inventories 15,761 9,734

  

346,789 331,033
  

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$302,587,000 (2013: HK$296,571,000) that are 
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also 
has tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$26,666,000 (2013: HK$29,161,000) that will expire in one to five years for 
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses and other 
deductible temporary differences as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not 
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors 
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between 
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore 
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries and associates established in Mainland China in 
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2014, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted 
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of 
the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate 
amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax 
liabilities have not been recognised totaled approximately HK$247,957,000 at 31 December 2014 (2013: HK$250,997,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

29. SHARE CAPITAL

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Authorised:
 2,100,000,000 (2013: 2,100,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 210,000 210,000

  

Issued and fully paid:
 1,199,746,993 (2013: 1,159,851,853) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 119,975 115,985

  

A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is as follows:

Number of 
shares in issue Issued capital 

HK$’000
  

At 1 January 2013 1,130,299,893 113,030

Share options exercised 29,551,960 2,955
  

At 31 December 2013 and 1 January 2014 1,159,851,853 115,985

Share options exercised 39,895,140 3,990
  

At 31 December 2014 1,199,746,993 119,975
  

Note: During the year, the movement in share capital was due to the subscription rights attaching to 39,895,140 share options being exercised at 
the subscription price of HK$0.296 per share (note 30), resulting in the issue of 39,895,140 shares of HK$0.10 each for a total cash 
consideration, before expenses, of approximately HK$11,809,000. An amount of HK$5,000,000 was transferred from the employee share-
based compensation reserve to the share premium account upon the exercise of the share options.



Founder Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2014

88

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2014

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 24 May 2002, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing 
Rules.

The purpose of the Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions or potential contributions made or to be 
made by the participants to the Group, to motivate the participants to optimise their performance and efficiency for the 
benefit of the Group, and to maintain or attract business relationships with participants whose contributions are or may be 
beneficial to the growth of the Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include (i) any part-time or full-time employee or 
officer of any member of the Group or of any substantial shareholder of the Company or of any associated company of the 
Company; (ii) any substantial shareholder of the Company; (iii) the chief executive or director (executive, non-executive or 
independent non-executive) of any member of the Group or of any substantial shareholder of the Company or of any 
associated company of the Company; and (iv) any supplier, agent, customer, partner or business associate of, or adviser or 
consultant to any member of the Group. The Scheme became effective on 24 May 2002 and has expired on 23 May 2012, 
after 10 years from the effective date, and no further option has been granted since the expiry date. However, the options 
granted under the Scheme continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of issues and, in all other 
respects, its provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, 
were subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In addition, any share 
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their 
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the 
price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to 
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options is deemed to have been accepted when the duplicate offer letter comprising the 
acceptance of the option is signed and upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The 
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the directors and ends on a date which is not later than ten 
years from the date of offer of the share options.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but should be the highest of (i) the closing price of 
the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) on the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares 
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the year:

2014 2013
Weighted

average
exercise price

Number
of options

Weighted
average

exercise price
Number

of options
HK$ ’000 HK$ ’000

per share per share
    

At 1 January 0.296 44,328 0.296 73,880
Exercised during the year 0.296 (39,895) 0.296 (29,552)
Expired during the year 0.296 (4,433) 0.296 –

    

At 31 December 0.296 – 0.296 44,328
    

On 17 November 2011, a total of 73,879,900 share options were granted to certain directors and employees of the Group in 
respect of their services to the Group (the “2011 Options”). The 2011 Options have an exercise price of HK$0.296 per share. 
The closing price of the Company’s share at the date of grant was HK$0.295 per share.

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was HK$0.59 per share 
(2013: HK$0.44 per share).

The exercise price and exercise period of the share options outstanding as at the end of 2013 are as follows:

2013

Exercise price Exercise period
Number of options (Note)

’000 HK$
per share

   

44,328 0.296 17.11.2013 to 16.11.2014

Note: The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the 
Company’s share capital.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company and the Group had no share option outstanding under the Scheme.

The fair value of the 2011 Options at the date of grant was HK$8,009,000 (HK$0.11 each) of which the Group recognised a 
share option expense of nil (2013: HK$2,397,000) during the year ended 31 December 2014.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had no share option outstanding under the Scheme.
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31. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 29 and 30 of the financial statements.

The Group’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal value of the shares and the share premium 
account of Founder HK acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 31 March 2000 over the nominal value of 
the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations, each of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is required to transfer not less 
than 10% of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations, to the 
general reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital. The quantum of the annual transfer is subject 
to the approval of the board of directors of each PRC subsidiary in accordance with its articles of association. During 
the year, certain of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries transferred HK$122,000, which represented 10% of their profit after 
tax as determined in accordance with the PRC accounting standards, to the general reserve.

(b) Company

Share
premium
account

Contributed
surplus

Employee
share-based

compensation
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

At 1 January 2013 32,470 448,209 5,598 (246,886) 239,391

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (4,416) (4,416)
Issue of shares 8,308 – (2,516) – 5,792
Equity-settled share option 
 arrangements – – 2,397 – 2,397

     

At 31 December 2013 40,778 448,209 5,479 (251,302) 243,164

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (2,955) (2,955)
Issue of shares 12,819 – (5,000) – 7,819
Transfer of share option reserve upon 
 the expiry of share options – – (479) 479 –

     

At 31 December 2014 53,597 448,209 – (253,778) 248,028
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31. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Company (continued)

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value of the shares of Founder HK acquired 
pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 31 March 2000 over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in 
exchange therefor. Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended), the Company may make distributions to 
its shareholders out of the contributed surplus in certain circumstances.

The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to 
be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial 
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share premium account when the related options are 
exercised, or be transferred to accumulated losses should the related options expire or be forfeited.

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

Company

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted to subsidiaries 417,050 416,850
  

As at 31 December 2014, the banking facilities granted to the subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to the banks by the 
Company were utilised to the extent of approximately HK$255,907,000 (2013: HK$237,118,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

33. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a) As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14 to the financial statements) under operating lease arrangements, 
with leases negotiated for terms of one to three years. The terms of the leases generally also require the tenants to 
pay security deposits.

At 31 December 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases 
with its tenants falling due as follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Within one year 2,067 1,764
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 585 951

  

2,652 2,715
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33. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

(a) As lessor (continued)

The Group leases certain of its machinery and equipment under operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated 
for terms of one to five years.

At 31 December 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases 
as follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Within one year 748 1,074
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 1,852 3,070

  

2,600 4,144
  

(b) As lessee

The Group leases certain of its offices and warehouse properties under operating lease arrangements, which are 
negotiated for terms ranging from half to three years.

At 31 December 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable operating 
leases falling due as follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Within one year 22,618 21,812
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 3,254 2,691

  

25,872 24,503
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(I) Transactions with related parties

(a) In addition to the related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the 
Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

Group

2014 2013
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Management fee income received from PKU Resources 
 and its subsidiary (i) 1,738 1,209
Handling fee income received from a subsidiary of Peking Founder (i) 240 –
Service fee paid to PKU Founder Information (ii) 2,204 2,892
Banking facilities guarantees given by Peking Founder (iii) 203,810 191,850
SBLC issued by Peking Founder to guarantee 
 the Group’s trade financing facilities (iv) 37,410 –
Sales of HP products to subsidiaries of PKU Resources (v) 821 108,677

  

Notes:

(i) These transactions were conducted on the basis of rates agreed between the Group and the related companies.

(ii) The sharing of administrative services fee between the Group and PKU Founder Information was conducted on a cost basis.

(iii) The banking facilities guarantees were given to PRC banks for credit facilities granted to subsidiaries of the Company and 
utilised to the extent of approximately HK$120,348,000 at 31 December 2014 (2013: HK$113,613,000).

(iv)  The SBLC was given to a bank in Hong Kong for trade financing facilities granted to a subsidiary of the Company. The trade 
financing facilities were utilised to the extend of approximately HK$7,500,000 at 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

(v) These sales were made based on direct cost incurred, plus certain margins.

(b) On 1 November 2011, Founder Electronics and Founder EasiPrint entered into lease agreements and 
management agreements with a subsidiary of Peking Founder to lease certain premises in Beijing, the PRC, for 
a term of three years from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014, for the aggregate of annual rental and 
management fees of RMB6,900,000 and RMB4,845,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,713,000 and 
HK$6,118,000).

On 1 March 2013, Founder EasiPrint entered into a supplemental agreement with the subsidiary of Peking 
Founder to revise the annual rental and management fee for the period from 1 March 2013 to 31 December 
2014. The aggregate amounts of annual rental and management fee for Founder Electronics and Founder 
EasiPrint were revised to RMB6,463,000 and RMB4,593,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,161,000 and 
HK$5,800,000).

During the year, rental and management fees of approximately HK$13,920,000 (2013: HK$14,106,000) were 
paid by Founder Electronics and Founder EasiPrint to a subsidiary of Peking Founder. The directors consider 
that the rental and management fees were paid in accordance with the terms of the lease agreement.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(I) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

On 13 February 2015, Founder Electronics, Founder EasiPrint and Beijing Founder Digital Printing Technology 
Co. Ltd. renewed the lease agreement and management agreement with a subsidiary of Peking Founder to lease 
the premises in Beijing from 15 February 2015 to 31 December 2015, for the aggregate of annual rental and 
management fees of RMB7,855,000 and RMB4,737,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,740,000 and 
HK$5,873,000). Further details of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 13 
February 2015.

(c) On 29 August 2011, the Company entered into a master agreement with PKU Resources to govern the purchase 
of information products from PKU Resources and its subsidiaries (collectively “PKU Resources Group”) for a 
term of three years from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2013.

On 9 December 2013, the Company renewed the master agreement with PKU Resources, pursuant to which the 
Group would purchase information products from PKU Resources Group, for the three years ending 31 
December 2016.

During the year, information products in the amount of approximately HK$98,000 (2013: HK$1,503,000) were 
purchased from PKU Resources Group. The directors consider that the purchases of information products were 
made in accordance with the master agreement.

(d) On 29 August 2011, the Company entered into a HP Master Agreement with PKU Resources to govern the sales 
of HP products to PKU Resources Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2013.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, sales of HP products of approximately HK$108,677,000 were made 
to PKU Resources Group and a commission fee of approximately HK$326,000 was received from PKU 
Resources Group. The directors consider that the sales of HP products and commission fee were made in 
accordance with the HP Master Agreement.

(e) On 1 November 2011, the Company entered into a master agreement with Peking Founder for the purchase of 
information products and research and development services from Peking Founder Group for a term of three 
years from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014.

On 30 December 2014, the Company and Peking Founder entered into the Master Purchase Agreement to 
extend the term for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2017. Further details of the transaction 
were set out in the announcement of the company dated 30 December 2014.

During the year, products and services of approximately HK$6,693,000 (2013: HK$3,317,000) were purchased 
from Peking Founder Group. The directors consider that the purchase of products and services were made in 
accordance with the master agreements.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(I) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(f) On 3 August 2010, the Company entered into a master agreement with Peking Founder to govern the sales of 
information products to Peking Founder Group for a term of three years ended 31 December 2012.

On 14 December 2012, the Company entered into a new master agreement with Peking Founder for the sales of 
information products to Peking Founder Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 
2015.

During the year, sales of information products and systems integration services of approximately 
HK$36,429,000 (2013: HK$36,647,000) were made to Peking Founder Group and a commission fee of 
HK$133,000 (2013: HK$58,000) was received from Peking Founder Group. The directors consider that the sales 
of information products and systems integration services and commission fee were made in accordance with 
the master agreement.

(g) On 1 November 2011, the Company renewed an entrusted loan master agreement entered with Peking Founder 
on 15 July 2009, pursuant to which the Group would provide short term loans through a financial institution to 
Peking Founder Group for the three years ended 31 December 2014. Such loans will be unsecured and interest-
bearing at the prevailing benchmark Renminbi lending rate for loan period of six months offered by the PBOC 
plus 15%.

On 28 July 2014, the Company renewed an entrusted loan master agreement entered with Peking Founder, 
pursuant to which the Group would provide short term loans through a financial institution to Peking Founder 
Group for the three years ending 31 December 2016. Such loans will be unsecured and interest-bearing at the 
prevailing benchmark Renminbi lending rate for loan period of six months offered by the PBOC plus 15%. Further 
details of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 July 2014.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, entrusted loans in the amount of RMB330,000,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$422,070,000) were provided to Peking Founder Group. The entrusted loans were unsecured 
and bore interest at rate of 6.44% per annum, and were settled by 27 August 2013 as to the amount of 
RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$127,900,000) and 21 December 2013 as to the amount of 
RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$63,950,000). The entrusted loans of RMB180,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$230,220,000) and the related interest receivable of RMB3,235,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$4,137,000) remained undue and were included in prepayments, deposits and other 
receivables as at 31 December 2013 and were fully settled by 20 June 2014.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, entrusted loans in the amount of RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$498,800,000) were provided to Peking Founder Group. The entrusted loans were unsecured 
and bore interest at rate of 6.44% per annum, and were settled by 27 August 2014 as to the amount of 
RMB140,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$174,580,000) and 19 December 2014 as to the amount of 
RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$74,820,000). The entrusted loans of RMB200,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$249,400,000) and the related interest receivable of RMB3,227,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$4,024,000) remained undue and were included in prepayments, deposits and other 
receivables as at 31 December 2014. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the entrusted loans of 
RMB140,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$174,580,000) and interest receivables of RMB3,131,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,904,000) were settled by Peking Founder Group.

During the year, interest income earned by the Group from Peking Founder Group amounted to HK$15,607,000 
(2013: HK$10,730,000). The directors consider that the provision of entrusted loans to and the receipt of interest 
income from Peking Founder Group were made in accordance with the Entrusted Loan Master Agreement.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(I) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(h) On 3 December 2010, the Company, PKU Founder Group Finance Co., Ltd., (“Founder Finance”), a subsidiary of 
Peking Founder and Peking Founder entered into a financial service agreement, pursuant to which Founder 
Finance would provide the Group with (i) deposit service; (ii) loan service; and (iii) miscellaneous financial service 
subject to the terms and conditions provided therein for the three years ended 31 December 2013. Peking 
Founder has provided a guarantee to the Company in the financial service agreement.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group made no deposits in Founder Finance. During the year ended 31 December 
2013, the Group earned interest income of HK$793,000. The interest rates on the deposits offered by Founder 
Finance were the prevailing interest rates offered by the PBOC. The directors consider that the deposit service 
was provided in accordance with the financial service agreement.

(i) On 7 December 2012, the Company entered into a Master Sales Agreement with PKU Resources, pursuant to 
which the Group would provide PKU Resources Group with the information products developed by the Group, 
the systems integration products and the related services on a non-exclusive basis, from the date of the 
agreement to 31 December 2014.

The Group did not provide any information products, systems integration products or related services to PKU 
Resources Group during the reporting periods.

(j) On 31 October 2014, Founder Electronics entered into the Technology Transfer Agreement I and the Fixed 
Assets Transfer Agreement I with Founder Digital Publishing Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* (上海方正數字出
版技術有限公司) (“Shanghai Founder”), a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of Peking Founder, pursuant to which 
Founder Electronics will acquire and Shanghai Founder will sell certain patents and fixed assets at a 
consideration of approximately RMB7.89 million (equivalent to approximately HK$9.97 million) and 
approximately RMB0.18 million (equivalent to approximately HK$0.23 million) respectively.

On the same date, Founder Electronics entered into the Technology Transfer Agreement II with Founder Mobile 
Media Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (方正移動傳媒技術（北京）有限公司) (“Founder Mobile”), a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of Peking Founder, pursuant to which Founder Electronics will acquire and Founder Mobile will 
sell certain patents at a consideration of RMB2 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2.53 million).

Further details of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 31 October 2014.

As at 31 December 2014, the consideration of RMB2 million paid to Founder Mobile was included in 
prepayments, deposits and other receivables. Subsequent to the reporting period, consideration of RMB8.1 
million was paid to Shanghai Founder in January 2015. The above transactions with Shanghai Founder and 
Founder Mobile were completed in January and February 2015, respectively.

* For identification purpose only
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(I) Transactions with related parties (continued)

(k) On 18 March 2013, Peking Founder and Founder Electronics entered into the Intellectual Properties Transfer 
Agreement with China Digital Video to transfer their titles and interest in certain patents, patent application 
rights, trademarks and the software to China Digital Video. On the same date, Peking Founder, Founder 
Electronics, Peking University entered into the Patent Licensing Agreement with China Digital Video to grant 
certain exclusive rights to use the patents and patent application rights for the entire validity period to China 
Digital Video. Further details of the transactions were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 18 
March 2013 and the circular of the Company dated 16 April 2013.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a) to (k) above for the current year also constitute connected 
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(II) Outstanding balances with related parties

(a) As at 31 December 2014, other than the entrusted loan and related interest receivables from Peking Founder 
Group as disclosed in note 34(I)(g) to the financial statements, balances due from Peking Founder Group 
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables were approximately HK$9,118,000 (2013: 
HK$8,945,000) and balances due to Peking Founder Group included in other payables and accruals were 
approximately HK$55,448,000 (2013: HK$28,590,000). These balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no 
fixed terms of repayment.

(b) As at 31 December 2014, the balances due from PKU Resources Group included in prepayments, deposits and 
other receivables were approximately HK$379,000 (2013: HK$192,000). The balances are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

(c) Details of the Group’s amounts due from its associates as at the end of the reporting period are included in note 
16 to the financial statements.

(d) Details of the Group’s trade balances with its associates and related companies as at the end of the reporting 
period are disclosed in notes 21 and 25 to the financial statements.

(III) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Short term employee benefits 4,696 4,051
Equity-settled share option expenses – 1,020

  

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 4,696 5,071
  

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group — 2014

Financial assets

Loans and
receivables

Available-for-
sale

finance assets Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Due from associates 31 – 31
Available-for-sale investments – 9,564 9,564
Trade and bills receivables 257,597 – 257,597
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits 
 and other receivables 317,862 – 317,862
Pledged deposits 25,691 – 25,691
Cash and cash equivalents 524,545 – 524,545

   

1,125,726 9,564 1,135,290
   

Financial liabilities — Financial liabilities at amortised cost

HK$’000
 

Trade and bills payables 130,504
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 98,443
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 194,135

 

423,082
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 
(continued)

Group — 2013

Financial assets

Loans and
receivables

Available-for-
sale

finance assets Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Due from associates 31 – 31
Available-for-sale investments – 15,860 15,860
Trade and bills receivables 218,087 – 218,087
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
 and other receivables 274,994 – 274,994
Finance lease receivables 9,162 – 9,162
Pledged deposits 11,859 – 11,859
Cash and cash equivalents 561,448 – 561,448

   

1,075,581 15,860 1,091,441
   

Financial liabilities — Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

HK$’000
 

Trade and bills payables 106,594
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 68,985
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 231,014

 

406,593
 

Company

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Financial assets — Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents 1,576 1,410
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 1,361 –

  

2,937 1,410
  

Financial liabilities — Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Due to a subsidiary 191,608 201,710
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 2,717 214

  

194,325 201,924
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments, other than those with 
carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows:

Group

Carrying amounts Fair values

2014 2013 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial assets
Available-for-sale investments 9,564 15,860 9,564 15,860
Finance lease receivables – 9,162 – 9,162

    

9,564 25,022 9,564 25,022
    

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 194,135 231,014 194,135 231,014

    

194,135 231,014 194,135 231,014
    

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, 
trade and bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities 
included in other payables and accruals, amounts due from associates and amounts due to a subsidiary, approximate to 
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of finance lease receivables and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated by discounting the 
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining 
maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31 December 2014 was 
assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of listed available-for-sale investments are based on quoted market prices.
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

Group

As at 31 December 2014

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Available-for-sale investments:
 Equity investments 9,564 – – 9,564

    

9,564 – – 9,564
    

As at 31 December 2013

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Available-for-sale investments:
 Equity investments 15,860 – – 15,860

    

15,860 – – 15,860
    

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

The Company did not have any financial assets and liabilities at fair value as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 
out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2013: Nil).
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

Group

As at 31 December 2013

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Finance lease receivables – 9,162 – 9,162
    

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

Group

As at 31 December 2014

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 194,135 – 194,135
    

As at 31 December 2013

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 231,014 – 231,014
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The Group did not have any financial assets disclosed at fair value as at 31 December 2014.

The Company did not have any financial assets or liabilities disclosed at fair value as at 31 December 2014 and 31 
December 2013.

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits. 
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other 
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly from its 
operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be 
undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and equity price 
risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to 
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and 
amounts due from associates, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amounts of these instruments. The Company is also exposed to credit risk through the granting of financial guarantees, 
further details of which are disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. 
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by industry sector. There 
are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade and bills 
receivables are widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills receivables are 
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

The Group places its cash deposits with major international banks in Hong Kong and state-owned banks in Mainland China. 
This investment policy limits the Group’s exposure to concentrations of credit risk.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank 
borrowings with floating interest rates.

At 31 December 2014, approximately HK$118,442,000 (2013: HK$159,211,000) of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings 
bore interest at floating rates. The Group believes that the exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rate is minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables 
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

Group
Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease) in
basis points profit before tax

HK$’000
  

2014
Hong Kong dollar 100 (524)
United States dollar 100 (411)
RMB 100 (1,006)

Hong Kong dollar (100) 524
United States dollar (100) 411
RMB (100) 1,006

2013
Hong Kong dollar 100 (456)
United States dollar 100 (734)
RMB 100 (384)

Hong Kong dollar (100) 456
United States dollar (100) 734
RMB (100) 384
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity 
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade and bills receivables) and projected cash flows from 
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 
overdrafts and bank loans. In addition, banking facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual 
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2014
Within 1 year 

or on demand
HK$’000

 

Trade and bills payables 130,504
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 98,443
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 195,254

 

424,201
 

2013
Within 1 year 

or on demand
HK$’000

 

Trade and bills payables 106,594
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 68,985
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 235,143

 

410,722
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual 
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Company 2014
Within 1 year Over 1 year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Due to a subsidiary – 191,608 191,608
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 2,717 – 2,717
Guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities 
 granted to subsidiaries 255,907 – 255,907

   

258,624 191,608 450,232
   

Company 2013
Within 1 year Over 1 year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Due to a subsidiary – 201,710 201,710
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 214 – 214
Guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities 
 granted to subsidiaries 237,118 – 237,118

   

237,332 201,710 439,042
   

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the value of individual 
securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as available-for-
sale investments (note 17) as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013. The Group’s listed investments are listed on 
ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and are valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 1% change in the fair values of the Group’s principal equity 
investments, with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the 
end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investments, the impact is 
deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors such as 
impairment which might impact the statement of profit or loss.

CARRYING
AMOUNT OF

EQUITY
INVESTMENTS

INCREASE/
(DECREASE)

IN EQUITY
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

2014
Investments listed in:
 Malaysia — Available-for-sale investments — PUC Founder (MSC) 9,564 96

2013
Investments listed in:
 Malaysia — Available-for-sale investments — PUC Founder (MSC) 15,860 159
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during 
the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

The Group monitors capital using a debt to equity ratio, which is interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by total equity 
attributable to owners of the parent. The debt to equity ratios as at the ends of the reporting periods were as follows:

Group

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

  

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 194,135 231,014

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 961,144 949,886

Debt to equity ratio 20% 24%
  

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2015.
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Percentage
of interest

attributable
Location Use Tenure to the Group
    

Units 1, 2a, 2b, 3a, 3b, 4a, 4b, Office premises/ Medium term lease 100
5, 7a and 7b on 14th Floor warehouse for rental
Cable TV Tower
9 Hoi Shing Road
Tsuen Wan
New Territories
Hong Kong

Office car parking space Car parking space Medium term lease 100
P38 on 3rd Floor for rental
Cable TV Towery
9 Hoi Shing Road
Tsuen Wan
New Territories
Hong Kong

Residential car parking space Car parking space Medium term lease 100
No. 324 on Podium Level 2 for rental
Rhine Garden
38 Castle Peak Road
Sham Tseng
New Territories
Hong Kong

Flat B, 29th Floor, Block 3 Residential premises Medium term lease 100
Locwood Court for rental
Kingswood Villas
1 Tin Wu Road
Tin Shui Wai
Yuen Long
New Territories
Hong Kong
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Percentage
of interest

attributable
Location Use Tenure to the Group
    

Flat B, 8th Floor, Block 2 and Residential premises Medium term lease 100
car parking space and car parking space
No. 60 on Level 1 for rental
Dragon Inn Court
9 Tsing Ha Lane
Tuen Mun
New Territories
Hong Kong

Flat D, 12th Floor, Block 2 Residential premises Medium term lease 100
Belvedere Garden for rental
Phase 2
620 Castle Peak Road
Tsuen Wan
New Territories
Hong Kong

Unit 1-7-1, 8-7-1 Office premises Medium term lease 100
No. 126 Yuzhou Road for rental
Jiulongpo District
Chongqing
China
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out below.

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

REVENUE 1,079,869 1,291,015 2,130,753 1,647,234 2,240,732
     

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6,386 86,487 44,411 49,934 62,944
     

Attributable to:
 Owners of the parent 6,381 86,241 44,523 49,913 62,823
 Non-controlling interests 5 246 (112) 21 121

     

6,386 86,487 44,411 49,934 62,944
     

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

TOTAL ASSETS 1,692,087 1,609,332 1,505,836 1,341,682 1,288,093
TOTAL LIABILITIES (730,562) (659,061) (731,613) (677,134) (698,827)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (381) (385) (132) (909) (852)

     

961,144 949,886 774,091 663,639 588,414
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